THE IMPACT OF HIGH SCHOOL MATH TEACHERS' CONCEPTIONS OF TEACHING AND LEARNING ON IMPLEMENTATION OF STUDENT-CENTERED INSTRUCTIONAL PRACTICES

by

Melissa Marie Lute

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2023

THE IMPACT OF HIGH SCHOOL MATH TEACHERS' CONCEPTIONS OF TEACHING AND LEARNING ON IMPLEMENTATION OF STUDENT-CENTERED INSTRUCTIONAL

PRACTICES

by Melissa Marie Lute

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2023

APPROVED BY:

Dr. Nathan Putney, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Dr. Michelle Barthlow, Ed.D., Committee Member

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this quantitative, predictive, correlational study is to investigate the relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of constructivist instructional practices and their conceptions of traditional teaching practices with their implementation of student-centered learning (SCL) practices in their math classes. Cognitive constructivism, theories of teacher beliefs, and teacher self-efficacy provide a theoretical framework for understanding math teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning and their use of SCL. This quantitative, nonexperimental study uses a correlational research design to investigate teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and their implementation of student-centered instructional practices. The convenience sample included 68 high school math teachers in South Carolina. The teachers submitted online responses to the Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire (TLCQ), which produces two scores, one on constructivist conceptions and one on traditional conceptions. The teacher participants were also observed using the Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol (RTOP) to determine the extent which they use SCL practices in their classes. Using multiple linear regression analysis, the researcher examined the results of the TLCQ and RTOP. The results of the study show that the linear combination of teachers' conceptions of constructivist teaching practices and traditional practices may predict the level of student-centered instructional practices used in their math classes. Future research studies should consider using multiple observations, including other factors such as experience and self-efficacy, and a larger sample with a more diverse population.

Keywords: Student-centered learning, secondary mathematics, teachers' conceptions, constructivism, reform-based mathematics

Copyright Page (Optional)

Dedication

To my husband, Joe, who is my rock on this earth always and especially throughout my doctoral journey and entire education career. Through the tears and joys, his support and understanding helped motivate me to push through. He never complained about carrying my weight around the house, cooking or cleaning, or when I spent countless hours on weekends working. Without him, I would not have made it this far.

Also, to my mother, Pattie, who is the strongest woman I know. When I felt little confidence in myself, she was always there to encourage and motivate me. She regularly reminded me that God has a plan for everyone, and this was part of mine. Her reminders and encouraging words helped me in some of my most challenging moments.

To anyone who is willing to try something out of their realm, even if others think it cannot be done or it is not worth the time or effort. Go for it.

Acknowledgments

Thank you, Dr. Nathan Putney, my dissertation chair. His support, encouragement, and constructive feedback have helped me through this journey. I never told him, but there were a couple of times I wanted to quit, but his encouraging emails helped me through.

Thank you, Dr. Michelle Barthlow for agreeing to be on my committee. Her dedication to her students through Team Meetings helped my decision to consider quantitative research, when I was almost certain I would conduct qualitative research.

I am grateful to my family for supporting me through this journey. I am especially thankful to my husband, Joe. Without his support, I would have never made it this far. Thanks to my mom, Pattie, who is my biggest cheerleader. I am grateful for the support and encouragement from both of my parents, Pattie and Ed, and my sister Jessica.

To my colleagues and friends, thank you for being patient and understanding. Thank you for cheering me on and supporting my goals. To Eleanor, thank you for lending me your ear, your guidance, and your feedback.

A huge shout out to all the teachers who participated in this study. For taking the time to complete my survey, for dealing with all my emails to schedule observations, and for inviting me and allowing me into to your classrooms. Thank you, thank you, thank you.

Finally, and most importantly, to God for providing me with the ability, patience, strength, willpower, and dedication it took to get me through this and overcome all challenges!

ABSTRACT	3
Copyright Page (Optional)	4
Dedication	5
Acknowledgments	6
List of Tables	10
List of Figures	11
List of Abbreviations	12
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	13
Overview	13
Background	13
Historical Overview	15
Society-at-Large	16
Theoretical Background	17
Problem Statement	18
Purpose Statement	19
Significance of the Study	20
Research Question	22
Definitions	22
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	24
Overview	24
Theoretical Framework	24
Related Literature	31

Table of Contents

Summary	53
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	55
Overview	55
Design	55
Research Question	56
Hypothesis	56
Participants and Setting	57
Population	57
Participants	57
Instrumentation	58
Teaching and Learning Conceptions	59
Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol	61
Procedures	63
Data Analysis	65
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	68
Overview	68
Research Question	68
Null Hypothesis	68
Data Screening	68
Descriptive Statistics	69
Results	72
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS	75
Overview	75

Discussion	75
Implications	80
Limitations	
Recommendations for Future Research	
REFERENCES	85
APPENDIX A: IRB Approval	96
APPENDIX B: Permission Email for School District Approval	97
APPENDIX C: Permission Letter from School District	
APPENDIX D: Invitation Email to Participate in Study	
APPENDIX E: Teaching and Learning Conception Questionnaire	
APPENDIX F: Permission to Use TLCQ	106
APPENDIX G: Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol	107
APPENDIX H: Permission to Use RTOP	110

List of Tables

Table 1. Participants' Demographics and Math Courses Taught (n = 68)	58
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics	70
Table 3. Collinearity Statistics	72
Table 4. Regression Model Results	73
Table 5. Model Summary	73
Table 6. Coefficients	74

List of Figures

Figure 1. Matrix Scatter Plots	. 69
Figure 2. Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual	. 71

List of Abbreviations

Student-centered learning (SCL)

Professional Development (PD)

National Center for Educational Statistics (NCES)

National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM)

Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire (TLCQ)

Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol (RTOP)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study is to investigate if there is a relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and the extent to which they implement student-centered instructional practices in their classes. This chapter will include the background related to student-centered instructional practices and high school mathematics teacher professional development (PD). The research problem, purpose, and significance will also be identified, followed by the research questions to be studied.

Background

Instruction design using constructivist principles is considered student-centered, as opposed to traditionally teacher-centered methods. Although many high school math teachers are aware of the positive impact of student-centered instructional practices on student achievement, they continue to use the traditional teacher-directed model (Davis et al., 2020; Eronen & Kärnä, 2018; Wilkie, 2019). Following the development of the Common Core State Standards for Mathematics in 2010, the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM) developed principles that guide mathematics instruction to help improve student achievement in mathematics (NCTM, 2014). Based on these principles, student-centered instructional practices such as task-based learning, productive mathematical discourse, and exploration of contextual mathematical problems are deemed more appropriate for use in the math classroom than traditional teacher-directed teaching (NCTM, 2014). Although teachers are exposed to studentcentered instructional practices during professional development (PD) activities, many do not implement or sustain implementation in their math classrooms (Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; Davis et al., 2020; Valoyes-Chávez, 2019; Wilkie, 2019).

Student-centered learning (SCL) involves all students as active participants in their learning experiences. This approach contrasts with traditional learning through teacher-centered instruction, where students are typically passive learners, receiving knowledge from the teacher (Reigeluth et al., 2017). In student-centered instruction, the role of the teacher and student changes such that the student becomes an active participant in what they are learning, with the teacher facilitating the learning process (Keiler, 2018; Reigeluth et al., 2017). According to Sawada et al. (2002), reformed instruction and learning is a change from traditional instruction to more constructivist-based practices, such as SCL. In mathematics, Talbert et al. (2019) suggested that SCL has a more substantial effect on student engagement than teacher-centered instruction. SCL is an extreme change from traditional teaching and learning, and is thus considered a reformed approach. Teachers may reform their math classes, incorporating more studentcentered instructional practices such as mathematical tasks, mathematical discourse, and activities that allow students to explore concepts and generate new knowledge through making connections with prior knowledge (Bishop et al., 2018; Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; NCTM, 2014; Talbert et al., 2019).

The extent to which high school math teachers implement SCL in their classrooms may be directly related to their beliefs on teaching and learning. Teachers with positive beliefs about constructivist teaching and learning are more likely to report using constructivist practices in their classrooms (Dejene, 2020; Yang et al., 2020). However, some teachers with positive beliefs about constructivist learning do not necessarily utilize such instructional practices (Lau, 2021; Yurekli et al., 2020). Teachers who have a better understanding of SCL approaches tend to feel more comfortable implementing them in their classrooms (Berger & Lê Van, 2019; Davis et al., 2020; Keiler, 2018; Klein & Leikin, 2020; Xie & Cai, 2020). To help support implementation of SCL in math classes, schools and districts can provide high school math teachers with ongoing support and training (Hayward & Laursen, 2018; Keiler, 2018). Just as students are expected to be active learners in mathematics, a key feature of teacher PD is active engagement in analyzing teaching and learning practices (Desimone et al., 2002). Therefore, for teacher PD to effectively address the importance of SCL approaches, it should be designed using features of SCL.

Historical Overview

In the 1980s in the United States, the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM) led the education standards movement by publishing standards for teaching and learning mathematics (NCTM, 2014). In 2010, the Common Core State Standards for Mathematics were released, and implementation began in 2011 by 45 states (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2021). Since then, many states have either revised the Common Core standards or adopted their own state standards (EdGate, 2022). There are currently 25 states and Washington, D.C. using Common Core standards and 25 states that use revised, or state-adapted, standards (EdGate, 2022). The Common Core standards are research-based and outline the skills and knowledge students should have upon high school completion (Common Core State Standards Initiative, 2021). In addition to the content standards, a set of mathematical practices were created to inform teaching and learning mathematics (NCTM, 2014). There are eight practices in all that relate to reformed instructional practices in the math class, such as incorporating math tasks that promote reasoning and problem solving, establishing math goals to facilitate learning, and eliciting and using evidence of student learning (NCTM, 2014).

In the United States, in-service public-school teachers are expected to participate in professional learning activities to stay up-to-date with current educational practices. Different types of professional learning activities may include PD workshops, school or district-based PD, conferences, coaching sessions, and professional learning communities. To improve instructional practices, key features of teacher PD include collective participation, program duration, ongoing support, and incorporating content knowledge (Desimone et al., 2002; Guskey, 2002; Kennedy, 2016). PD for high school math teachers should include mathematical knowledge for teaching, as well as pedagogical content knowledge (Hill & Ball, 2004; Shulman, 1986). That is, PD for high school math teachers should involve research-based SCL practices in secondary math classes.

More recently, research studies have indicated that PD that aims to change math teachers' instructional practices must also incorporate elements that increase teachers' self-efficacy and beliefs regarding content and instructional approaches (Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; Wilkie, 2019). Copur-Gencturk and Papakonstantinou (2016) suggested that PD that actively engages learners and provides ongoing support also enables math teachers to sustain changes to their instructional practices. Wilkie (2019) concluded that teachers responded differently to PD attempting to change instructional practices; however, when they used instructional tasks, they were more open to discussing approaches and implementation. Math teachers and their students are likely to benefit from PD that incorporates these features through increased student achievement.

Society-at-Large

In the United States, student achievement in mathematics has been an ongoing topic of concern. According to the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES, 2020a), twelfth grade American students' math scores on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) have consistently remained unchanged since 2005. On the Program for International Student Assessment (PISA) in 2018, the average score for the United States was lower than the international average, and below 30 other countries' averages (NCES, 2020b). Based on studies

that show an increase in student achievement through SCL, teachers who utilize student-centered practices in high school mathematics classes may positively impact this historically low student achievement (Bishop et al., 2018; Talbert et al., 2019).

Students who experience SCL activities, such as task-based learning, tend to have higher success rates in their math classes than those who learn from teacher-centered approaches (Bishop et al., 2018; Talbert et al., 2019). Additionally, SCL helps students develop skills that increase their higher-order thinking skills, which are valuable in society (Reigeluth et al., 2017). PD can help teachers sustain the implementation of student-centered practices in their math classrooms (Akhter et al., 2018; Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; Hayward & Laursen, 2018). Additionally, school and district leaders may influence teachers' identities, self-efficacy, and beliefs regarding instructional practices through targeted PD training (Heyd-Metzuyanim, 2019; Wilkie, 2019). Therefore, PD concerning SCL strategies may help teachers further understand and believe in the importance of SCL in the secondary math class.

Theoretical Background

SCL is grounded in cognitive constructivism, which holds the belief that knowledge is constructed through social interactions (Vygotsky, 1978). Mathematical discourse and task-based learning are key elements of building effective mathematics practices (NCTM, 2014). These practices require students to communicate mathematically and collaborate with their peers, which involves actively learning from their peers. These are also essential aspects of cognitive constructivism (Bruner, 1971; Stapleton & Stefaniak, 2019; Vygotsky, 1978). Teachers should give students opportunities to construct knowledge by engaging them in authentic tasks (Reigeluth et al., 2017). However, teachers must also recognize and value the importance of implementing SCL. Theorists in mathematics education consider affect an essential component in mathematics teaching and learning (McLeod, 1992; Schoenfeld, 1998). Beliefs, attitudes, and emotions are three main constructs in the affective domain (McLeod, 1992). Teachers' beliefs about the nature of mathematics, the teaching and learning processes, and roles of different instructional methods affect their classroom actions (Schoenfeld, 1998). Within a teacher's belief system is their self-efficacy towards implementing new instructional practices and pedagogies (Pajares, 1992). Teachers' beliefs are shaped by their experiences, and these beliefs and selfefficacy affect their classroom practices (Guskey, 2002; Pajares, 1992). Therefore, PD plays an essential role in shaping teachers' beliefs (Guskey, 2002). According to Guskey (2002), teachers' beliefs and attitudes are likely to change when they and their students experience success from changes in teaching and learning practices. The theoretical framework for this study is grounded in constructivism, teachers' beliefs of teaching and learning, and teacher self-efficacy.

Problem Statement

Educators and parents believe that mathematics instruction should be taught using traditional teaching approaches (Davis et al., 2020). However, recent literature has indicated that student-centered approaches to learning mathematics may be more beneficial to students than teacher-centered instruction (Bishop et al., 2018; Talbert et al., 2019). In secondary and postsecondary math classes where teachers use student-centered instructional practices, such as taskbased learning and problem-based learning, student achievement is higher than in those classrooms where teacher-led methods are used (Bishop et al., 2018; Talbert et al., 2019). Although research supports the value of student-centered instruction in math classes, teachers face barriers, such as their learning beliefs, self-efficacy, and perceived student background when implementing SCL and thus, cannot sustain the implementation of the practices in the classroom (Akhter et al., 2018; Corkin et al., 2019; Yurekli et al., 2020).

Research regarding teachers' beliefs and attitudes around SCL has indicated that teachers are aware of the benefits of SCL for students (Akhter et al., 2018; Davis et al., 2020; Keiler, 2018; Klein & Leikin, 2020; Xie & Cai, 2020). However, some high school math teachers are reluctant to implement SCL in their classes (Valoyes-Chávez, 2019; Wilkie, 2019). Researchers have suggested further studies that use classroom observations to determine use of SCL in math (Xie & Cai, 2020). Yurekli et al. (2020) studied teachers' beliefs about teaching mathematics by building conceptual understanding but utilized teachers' self-reported use, not their observed use, of instructional practices. Similarly, Yang et al. (2020) found that pre-service math teachers who had constructivist pedagogical beliefs reported using SCL practices. While these studies address relationships between teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning math, they rely on teachers' reported use of constructivist practices rather than their observed use. The problem is that the literature has not fully addressed the relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of student-centered instructional practices for teaching and learning mathematics and the extent to which they implement or sustain implementation.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quantitative, predictive, correlational study is to investigate the relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of constructivist instructional practices and their conceptions of traditional teaching practices with their implementation of SCL practices in their math classes. This study will explore the relationship between teachers' constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning and the extent they use SCL, teachers'

traditional conceptions of teaching and learning and the extent they use SCL, and the combination of their constructivist and traditional conceptions and the extent they use SCL.

The predictor variables are math teachers' scores on the constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning scale and their scores on the traditional conceptions of teaching and learning scale. Traditional conceptions include beliefs that teaching transfers knowledge from teacher to student; the teacher is the active participant, and the student is the passive participant (Chan & Elliott, 2004). Constructivist conceptions include beliefs with the learner as an active participant who constructs knowledge through reasoning and justification (Chan & Elliott, 2004). The criterion variable is the observed extent to which teachers implement SCL instructional practices in high school math classes. Teacher implementation of reform-based practices involves having prepared lessons that allow students to actively explore new concepts based on prior knowledge while utilizing mathematical communication, critical thinking, and reflective practices (Sawada et al., 2002). Reformed teaching and learning involve the transition from traditional teaching practices to constructivist approaches, such as SCL (Sawada et al., 2002). The population for this study is high school math teachers in a large school district in South Carolina. The math teachers attend PD geared towards SCL and receive ongoing support from school and district personnel.

Significance of the Study

This study is significant in exploring how mathematics teachers' beliefs regarding teaching and learning impact how often they utilize SCL approaches in their classes. As previously discussed, student-centered methods have shown increases in student achievement in mathematics more than teacher-centered methods (Bishop et al., 2018; Talbert et al., 2019). If teachers do not implement student-centered instructional techniques because they do not recognize the value in them, they may put their students at a learning disadvantage. The current study is significant because it will add to the existing knowledge on teachers' conceptions of SCL (Akhter et al., 2018; Berger & Lê Van, 2019; Wilkie, 2019; Xie & Cai, 2020). For instance, Xie and Cai (2020) studied the relationship between teachers' beliefs about mathematics teaching and learning and their reported use of reform-based instruction. Wilkie (2019) explored the relationship between teachers' beliefs at changes in instructional practices. However, little is known about high school math teachers' beliefs regarding teaching and learning and their observed instructional practices.

This study will also add to the literature that suggests teachers' beliefs towards certain instructional practices may impact the frequency to which they implement SCL practices in their classes (Akhter et al., 2018; Davis et al., 2020; Yurekli et al., 2020). Owens et al. (2018) ranked high school math teachers' PD preferences based on their reported priority level. Some top preferences included using real-world issues in class, inquiry-based activities, and problem-based learning (Owens et al., 2018). This finding may indicate that teachers may value SCL but need additional training. Akhter et al. (2018) found that elementary school teachers place a high value on student-centered approaches, but this finding does not address high school teachers' beliefs. Dejene (2020) compared pre-service teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning to their selfreported teaching approach, not observed. These studies do not address the relationship between teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and their observed practical use of SCL strategies in their high school math classes. Therefore, the present study aims to add to this current literature by investigating the relationship between teachers' conceptions of instructional practices and their use of SCL practices in a mathematics classroom.

Research Question

RQ1: How accurately can the reform-based practices score, which measures the extent of SCL practices, be predicted by the linear combination of teacher conceptions of constructivist and traditional teaching and learning?

Definitions

The following terms are pertinent to the study of teachers' conceptions and implementation of student-centered instructional practices:

- Conceptions of teaching and learning The beliefs that teachers have about their preferred methods of teaching and learning, including the role of both teacher and student (Chan & Elliott, 2004).
- Inquiry-based learning A form of learner-centered instruction that deeply engages the student in inquisitive collaboration and communication with their peers (Hayward & Laursen, 2018).
- 3. Mathematical discourse Students actively participate in meaningful discussions about mathematical reasoning and approaches to problem-solving (NCTM, 2014). Students listen to their peers and constructively critique their reasoning using examples and counterexamples (NCTM, 2014). The teacher purposefully plans questions and problems that facilitate whole-class and small-group discussions (NCTM, 2014).
- Problem-based learning (PBL) A learner-centered approach to learning that incorporates relevant and real problems students use to plan, investigate, explain, and communicate their findings (Lee & Blanchard, 2019).

- 5. Professional development (PD) A means to develop and deepen teachers' content knowledge and instructional practices (Desimone et al., 2002). PD can occur through (but is not exclusive to) workshops, professional learning communities (PLCs), school or district-based activities, and coaching programs (Kennedy, 2016).
- Reformed teaching Teaching that empowers students and teachers to develop critical thinking, supports a culture of change, and moves from traditional to constructivist teaching and learning (Sawada et al., 2002).
- Student-centered instruction Instruction that gives the learner responsibility for gaining knowledge through active engagement in collaborative learning activities (Reigeluth et al., 2017). Students are learning by doing. Teachers are facilitating the learning process and helping students set attainable learning goals (Reigeluth et al., 2017).
- Student engagement (in mathematics) Students are actively involved in a mathematics lesson. The quality of their involvement in mathematics lessons is defined by their level of active participation (Talbert et al., 2019).
- Task-based learning Learning occurs through active engagement in an authentic, relevant task that makes connections from prior knowledge to new knowledge (Reigeluth et al., 2017).
- Teacher-centered instruction Students are passive learners; the teacher gives them the information directly (Reigeluth et al., 2017). The teacher typically imparts information to students through lectures, breaking down information into manageable chunks for students (Bishop et al., 2018).

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

A systematic review of the literature was conducted to explore the problem of high school math teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and their implementation of SCL instructional practices. This chapter will present a review of the literature related to the topic. In the first section, cognitive constructivism, teachers' beliefs about mathematics teaching and learning, and self-efficacy will be discussed regarding implementation of SCL instructional practices. The following section is a synthesis of recent literature regarding SCL instructional practices, including SCL in mathematics classes, the benefits and constraints of implementing SCL in mathematics, teachers' beliefs about SCL, teacher PD, and implementation of SCL in math classes. A gap in the literature will be addressed, presenting a feasible need for the current study.

Theoretical Framework

The theories that guide this literature review on mathematics teachers' beliefs towards SCL and its impact on their use of SCL in the mathematics classroom are cognitive constructivism, theories of teachers' beliefs of teaching and learning, and self-efficacy. Cognitive constructivism is a fundamental theory of SCL and therefore is essential for this study. Teachers' self-efficacy and their beliefs about the teaching and learning processes may affect their classroom behaviors and actions, including their instructional approaches (Schoenfeld, 1998; Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998). These theories together make up a framework for understanding the relationship between teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and their use of SCL practices in their classrooms.

Cognitive Constructivism

The main theory guiding this literature review is cognitive constructivism because it is fundamental to student-centered teaching and learning practices. Cognitive constructivism is a learning theory grounded in the belief that individuals construct knowledge through interactions with their environment (Vygotsky, 1978). This learning theory emphasizes the role of the learner as maintaining responsibility for their learning through interaction and collaboration with their peers. Student-centered approaches to learning cover each of these aspects, allowing students to collaborate with their peers and make decisions regarding their learning (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018). A premise of cognitive constructivism is active involvement in the learning process, which is the main principle of student-centered instruction.

Vygotsky (1978) suggested that internal development processes occur when learners interact and collaborate with their peers in their environment. Learning first occurs through interactions with other people, then internally. Situated within this theory is the idea of the zone of proximal development (ZPD). The ZPD is the point in a student's learning process where the student is still developing knowledge but has not mastered understanding (Vygotsky, 1978). Although the learner assumes more responsibility for their learning, Vygotsky suggested that learning that occurs in the ZPD should be fostered under the guidance of an adult or more capable peers. This is essential in SCL classrooms, because the role of the teacher in studentcentered classrooms is to provide the necessary support for the learners throughout the learning process. Through constructivist teaching practices, students can gain a deeper understanding of concepts through reflection and sharing their learning experiences.

Student-centered classrooms are designed to meet the needs of individual learners. Bruner (1966) proposed that teachers have four elements in their instructional materials – predisposition, structure, sequence, and reinforcement. In selecting a task or problem, the teacher should consider factors that motivate learners to undertake problem-solving (Bruner, 1966). Within the task, smaller chunks of content should be organized under a larger concept using sequencing to help the learner transform and transfer learning. Finally, the learning process should be reinforced at first with extrinsic rewards, but eventually with more intrinsic rewards such as satisfaction in problem-solving (Bruner, 1966). Actively involving students in this exploratory learning process may help students develop independence, collaboration skills, and motivation (Stapleton & Stefaniak, 2019). Stapleton and Stefaniak (2019) suggested that these four components initially identified by Bruner are still relevant today in designing instruction that allows students to discover new knowledge.

Eronen and Kärnä (2018) reiterated this process in their grounded theory study, identifying three essential elements of SCL in mathematics. SCL in mathematics should include technologies that are easy for students to use, students' understanding the purpose of SCL, and diverse problems (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018). First, technology tools are helpful for students to explore mathematics concepts. For students to use the technology tools to solve the task or problem, they must be easy to use so learning the tools do not overcome learning the concepts (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018). Second, communicating the rationale for SCL with students is situated in the constructivist perspective, where students maintain responsibility for their learning. Finally, the selection of diverse tasks follows the process of designing instructional materials as identified by Bruner (1966). Task-based learning is one approach to SCL frequently used in mathematics. In this approach, the teacher introduces a problem or issue to students, who then collaborate to explore a possible solution (Francom, 2017). The instructor provides guidance and helps activate prior knowledge; however, the lesson should include several key components to assist the learner successfully. The interconnectedness of these principles lays the framework for SCL mathematics. Cognitive constructivism is used as the theoretical framework to examine teachers' roles in guiding students through their explorative and collaborative learning.

Teachers' Beliefs

Teachers' beliefs, goals, and knowledge of teaching are essential in understanding their behaviors and actions in the classroom (Schoenfeld, 1998). As a theory of teaching-in-context, this theory about teachers' beliefs, goals, and knowledge aims to justify how and why teachers engage in behaviors while teaching (Schoenfeld, 1998). Schoenfeld (1998) described their theory of teaching-in-context in this way:

[H]igh priority goals will be consistent with the teacher's high activation beliefs; the actions the teacher undertakes or decides to undertake will be consistent with those goals and beliefs; and the teacher's actions will draw upon related knowledge that has a high activation level. (p. 3)

In terms of student-centered instruction, if the teacher has high goals to implement SCL, they likely have beliefs about SCL, and thus, their actions regarding SCL are more likely to be consistent with their goals, beliefs, and knowledge.

Teachers' beliefs, goals, and knowledge of teaching have varying degrees to which they influence teacher actions. Their beliefs, goals, and knowledge are determining factors of what teachers do and why they do it (Schoenfeld, 1998). Schoenfeld (1998) suggested that the three concepts work together to determine the actions of the teacher. The actions a teacher takes are consistent with their high priority goals and beliefs, which requires use of knowledge at high activation levels. By understanding a teachers' goals, beliefs, and knowledge regarding an

instructional approach, such as SCL, a teacher's actions can be better understood (Schoenfeld, 1998).

Within the theory of teaching-in-context, the beliefs that impact teachers' actions include beliefs about the subject matter, the learning process, the teaching process, roles of types of instruction, and particular groups of students (Schoenfeld, 1998). McLeod (1992) argued that beliefs and other elements of the affective domain, such as attitudes and emotion, are essential in mathematics education. McLeod declared that teachers' beliefs about instruction and teacher attributions are directly related to affective factors. In addition, teachers' beliefs about their students and how they learn, as well as the teachers' beliefs about self, curriculum, and pedagogy, also affect their actions in the classroom (Pajares, 1992). The earlier a belief is developed, the more difficult it is to change because developed beliefs affect and influence new information (Pajares, 1992). Thus, it is essential to understand math teachers' beliefs regarding SCL instructional practices to determine their likelihood of utilizing such pedagogies in their classrooms.

Understanding teachers' beliefs is complicated; systems of beliefs are a broad concept and under-developed (Leder, 2019; Pajares, 1992). Beliefs about how mathematics teaching and learning impacts student learning are still being explored (Leder, 2019). Leder (2019) stated that mathematics teachers' beliefs and emotions about the subject matter, students, and teaching and learning are relevant to understand the practices teachers' implement in their classrooms. Yurekli et al. (2020) found that teachers' beliefs about and implementation of connection-making practices could be predicted by the teachers' beliefs about their students. According to Leder (2019), there is still much to understand about the relationship between math teachers' beliefs and their teaching practices. In mathematics education, it is essential that teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning are considered to understand their actions in their classrooms towards implementing SCL practices.

Teacher Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy is a sub-construct of beliefs (Pajares, 1992). Self-efficacy theory plays an essential role in understanding teachers' implementation of specific instructional practices. Self-efficacy involves one's belief in successfully performing a task to achieve a particular outcome (Bandura, 1977). This personal belief of whether one can accomplish a task or not can either enhance or hinder their learning (Bandura, 2001). According to Bandura (1977), "[E]fficacy expectations determine how much effort people will expend and how long they will persist" (p. 194). That is, teachers are more likely to sustain the execution of instructional practices that they believe they can successfully implement.

Within the theory of self-efficacy, Bandura (1977) identified dimensions and sources of a person's efficacy expectations. Efficacy expectations differ in magnitude, generality, and strength (Bandura, 1977). Magnitude refers to the ordered level of difficulty of a task, such as simple, moderate, or challenging, while an individual's expectations of performing the task can range from weak to strong (Bandura, 1977). Together, the levels of the dimensions determine the efficacy expectations of performing a task. In addition to the dimensions of efficacy expectations, Bandura identified the sources of personal efficacy as "performance accomplishments, vicarious experience, verbal persuasion, and physiological states" (p. 195). Together, these sources and dimensions of efficacy determine a person's perceived self-efficacy to accomplish a specific task. Therefore, to understand a teacher's ability to implement SCL instructional practices, it is essential to understand their personal beliefs about adopting new or different instructional approaches.

Teacher efficacy refers to a teacher's belief in their ability to plan and carry out a particular instructional task (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998). More experienced teachers tend to develop a stronger sense of teacher efficacy; however, new changes such as instructional practices may negatively affect teacher efficacy (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998). Teachers who typically utilize traditional instructional methods may have lower self-efficacy when using reformed teaching, including SCL. Teachers with higher self-efficacy may be more likely to implement new instructional practices, such as SCL (Corkin et al., 2019). Thus, teacher self-efficacy is essential in understanding the relationship between teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and their use of SCL practices in math classes.

There are two dimensions of teacher efficacy—one is personal teaching efficacy, which is a teacher's personal feeling of competence as a teacher (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998). Tschannen-Moran et al. (1998) identified the second dimension as the "teaching task and its context" (p. 228), or, factors that affect the difficulty levels of teaching and resources available to simplify learning. Together, these dimensions influence the teacher's efficacy to successfully undertake a teaching task, which is related to the effort placed on the task (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998). Teacher efficacy is cyclical with relation to effort and performance. "Greater efficacy leads to greater effort and persistence, which leads to better performance, which in turn leads to greater efficacy" (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998, p. 234). This idea is also true of lower efficacy, which leads to lower effort and results in poor teaching outcomes, which decreases efficacy.

Helping teachers succeed when implementing changes in the classroom can work to change teachers' beliefs (Guskey, 2002). Teachers' attitudes and beliefs may change when teachers receive feedback and support that their implementation of new instructional practices has resulted in success (Guskey, 2002). Emery et al. (2021) proposed that developing teacher

self-efficacy earlier through PD may support the use of SCL. Guskey (2002) stated that for a new instructional approach to be implemented properly, it must become part of the teacher's routine. Thus, to sustain implementation of SCL approaches, teachers must believe that they can successfully implement them in their classrooms.

Constructivism and teachers' beliefs of teaching and learning, including their selfefficacy, are the driving theories behind this study and literature review. At the root of studentcentered mathematics instruction is constructivism. SCL approaches to teaching mathematics differ greatly from traditional teaching and learning, and thus command a reason for understanding teachers' beliefs about different instructional approaches. For a teacher to transition from direct instruction to SCL requires a significant shift in teaching practices. Thus, further understanding of a teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning is warranted. Within the system of a teachers' beliefs regarding teaching and learning, the teacher has a level of selfefficacy which drives their beliefs in their ability to implement new, SCL instructional techniques. Therefore, these theories are essential to understanding the relationship between teachers' conceptions of teaching and their practical use of SCL instruction.

Related Literature

Historically, mathematics at the secondary level was taught using traditional learning experiences, such as teacher-directed instruction (Wilkie, 2019). In mathematics, this learning looks like the teacher lecturing, giving students information about a topic or a set of rules or procedures which they are expected to memorize. However, the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM) refers to such traditional learning practices as unproductive (NCTM, 2014). In the face of reform-based mathematics education, one problem for math educators is that parents, students, and other educators believe this counterproductive method is how mathematics should be taught (NCTM, 2014). Schoenfeld (2004) called this belief a "naïve view" that, while may be a sensible method, lacks powerful learning (p. 262). This declaration is still relevant in the United States as research has indicated that students show higher achievement and higher engagement in student-centered mathematics classes (Bishop et al., 2018; Eronen & Kärnä, 2018; Jamaan et al., 2020; Talbert et al., 2019).

More productive approaches to learning mathematics are problem-solving, reasoning, discourse, exploration, and varied approaches, solutions, and strategies (NCTM, 2014). However, recent research has indicated that factors such as teachers' self-efficacy, identity, and teaching beliefs may impact their use of these more student-centered approaches to teaching and learning (Corkin et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2020; Emery et al., 2021; Keiler, 2018). For example, some K-12 math teachers in Texas indicated that they believed students learn best from step-bystep instruction and repeated practice, which is inconsistent with the reformed math movement (Corkin et al., 2019). In the same study, some teachers noted a lack of confidence and lack of interest in trying new, student-centered approaches to teaching (Corkin et al., 2019). Additionally, Davis et al. (2020) found that teachers who tended to have more traditional teaching beliefs used fewer student-centered practices, whereas teachers with more constructivist views used more student-centered practices. Similarly, Emery et al. (2021) concluded that teachers' self-efficacy strongly influenced their teaching practices. As teachers transition from using more traditional teaching approaches to student-centered approaches, they may experience identity transformations as they embrace their new roles in SCL approaches (Keiler, 2018).

When the reform-based math movement was implemented, teachers were expected to change their teaching with little support (Schoenfeld, 2004). Research has indicated that teachers need support when implementing student-centered teaching and learning mathematics (Hayward

& Laursen, 2018; Heyd-Metzuyanim, 2019; Liu & Phelps, 2020; Wilkie, 2019). Math instructors in a training program for implementing inquiry-based instructional practices reported feeling supported by department chairs and colleagues, as well as from an online support community (Hayward & Laursen, 2018). Liu and Phelps (2020) concluded that school programs that provide follow-up support give teachers opportunity to process and implement strategies learned during PD. Support for teachers should also include observations, followed by conversations about the lesson, so teachers can process the use of new instructional techniques (Heyd-Metzuyanim, 2019). Therefore, teachers are much more likely to succeed in implementing SCL practices when educational institutions provide teachers with support.

Student-Centered Learning

The literature suggests that features of student-centered instruction improve learning and levels of student engagement. SCL is a constructivist approach to teaching and learning involving students as active participants in their learning experiences. This approach to teaching and learning is in opposition to traditional direct instruction. In SCL, the roles of teachers and students change significantly compared to traditional teaching and learning approaches (Keiler, 2018). One of the significant differences is that the role of the teacher is to focus on what the students are doing to interact with the content and their peers instead of the teacher delivering the content to passive listeners (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018; Keiler, 2018). Within that change, it should be noted that the role of the student changes from passive listener to actively engaged in exploration, tasks, and discourse.

The roles of teachers and students change when instructional practices change from traditional to constructivist, or student-centered. The students are more actively involved in their learning processes, which may be more beneficial to students, as indicated by recent research (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018; Jamaan et al., 2020; Keiler, 2018; Morrison et al., 2021; Moyer et al., 2018; Talbert et al., 2019). Talbert et al. (2019) concluded that SCL had a positive effect on student engagement compared to teacher-centered learning for the middle and high school math students in their study. Other studies determined that students became more independent learners and were able to collaborate with their peers to accomplish learning tasks (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018; Morrison et al., 2021; Moyer et al., 2018). Through the use of exploration-based lessons in middle school, students were able to learn more independently and with their peers than students in a non-SCL-based class (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018).

Research has indicated that SCL helps students become more independent learners who rely less on their teacher (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018; Morrison et al., 2021; Moyer et al., 2018). Morrison et al. (2021) determined that teachers and students in a project-based high school developed strong personal connections, with the teachers' role as motivator and facilitator. In a causal comparison study, teachers in the learner-centered instruction experimental group were significantly higher than the non-learner-centered control group on facilitating student learning, empowering learners, and motivating learners (Cheng & Ding, 2021). However, in a study of the effects of reform in Ireland, a comparison of students' scores on college algebra exam pre-reform compared to students' post-reform indicated a decline in performance (Prendergast & Treacy, 2018). The teacher participants in this study indicated lack of preparedness and confidence implementing the reform-based practices (Prendergast & Treacy, 2018). The benefits of utilizing SCL practices in reformed mathematics classes warrant further investigation.

Student-Centered Learning in Mathematics

In the United States, since the implementation of the Common Core State Standards for Mathematics, math teachers are expected to utilize reform-based teaching and learning practices. The reform-based practices are grounded in constructivist principles, and most are considered student-centered (Moyer et al., 2018). Some student-centered approaches to teaching and learning mathematics include task-based learning (Klein & Leikin, 2020), problem-based learning (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018; Jamaan et al., 2020), and inquiry-based learning (Hayward & Laursen, 2018). Each approach consists of student-centered principles but is designed to cognitively challenge students differently.

Task-based Learning. Task-based learning involves students actively and collaboratively solving tasks based on real-world situations (Francom, 2017). The tasks chosen must be designed to enable student collaboration and communication, and thus cannot be procedural in nature (Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). Eronen and Kärnä (2018) added that authentic tasks that require students to explore new concepts are an essential element of task-based learning. That is, the tasks should be nonroutine. Klein and Leikin (2020) identified four types of open mathematical tasks—multiple strategies, multiple outcomes, investigative, and sorting. Multiple strategy tasks have multiple starting points and multiple outcome tasks have different possible solutions, whereas investigative tasks and sorting tasks are both open-start and open-end (Klein & Leikin, 2020). The type of task may be dependent upon the concept being taught.

Some of the literature has indicated that teachers and students can identify the benefits of task-based learning (Eronen & Kärnä, 2018). Eronen and Kärnä (2018) found that Finnish high school math students, over time, preferred to work collaboratively on tasks. In addition, through a lesson study, high school teachers in Ireland noticed the benefits of students communicating their thought processes, such as building conceptual understanding and developing mathematical reasoning skills (Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). However, Klein and Leikin (2020) concluded

that teachers in their study were less likely to implement open tasks if they believed students would have difficulty solving them. From this literature, it may seem that students and teachers notice the benefits of task-based learning. However, teachers may have reservations regarding implementation, thus warranting further investigation. In addition, teachers need some support or professional learning on how to appropriately implement task-based learning. According to Wilkie (2019), algebra teachers may attempt to guide students through the task before letting them explore, which contradicts the purpose of task-based instruction.

Problem-based learning. Similar to task-based learning, problem-based learning (PBL) is a collaborative approach to learning through problem-solving. Task-based learning typically occurs over one lesson, whereas PBL occurs over more extended periods, such as a unit or an academic term (Francom, 2017). Additionally, PBL is less structured than task-based learning, where the teacher can scaffold learning during the task. Research has shown the benefits of PBL on student learning to include freedom of learning, increased achievement outcomes, and deeper thinking skills that are transferable outside the classroom (Craig & Marshall, 2019; Jamaan et al., 2020; Lee & Blanchard, 2019; Morrison et al., 2021).

In a causal-comparison study, geometry students who used PBL to explore new concepts had higher achievement outcomes than students enrolled in the same course but learning by methods directed by the teacher (Jamaan et al., 2020). Science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) students in a PBL high school reported sense of independence while learning and having critical thinking skills (Morrison et al., 2021). The students in this study also reported feeling challenged and supported by their teachers (Morrison et al., 2021). Craig and Marshall (2019) found no significant increase in math students' standardized test scores after PBL instruction; however, that study was not designed to examine other benefits of using PBL in
math and science, such as student engagement or student autonomy in learning. One reason for this finding may be that standardized math tests typically assess at the lower-level and not the higher-level thinking skills that PBL develops within learners (Craig & Marshall, 2019).

Benefits of problem-based learning in the classroom also apply to the teachers. Lee and Blanchard (2019) concluded that secondary teachers who implement PBL feel more competent, have higher expectations of success, and have more substantial interest and beliefs toward PBL than teachers who do not use PBL. Cheng and Ding (2021) suggested that teachers who use learner-centered instruction function better when implementing PBL and project-based learning than those who do not utilize SCL. Teachers who implement PBL have had some training on integrating PBL in their classes (Craig & Marshall, 2019; Lee & Blanchard, 2019). For teachers to successfully implement PBL, it may be beneficial to have training and support before and during the transition. According to Owens et al. (2018), STEM teachers reported problem-based learning as a topic of interest for PD. Although the teachers in these studies have had training on PBL, it remains unclear how their beliefs about teaching and learning may impact their use of PBL.

Inquiry-based learning. Inquiry-based learning (IBL) is another student-centered approach to learning mathematics similar to task-based learning and PBL. Like the other two approaches, IBL actively engages students in collaboration; however, the tasks are more designed around discussion and exploration to build conceptual understanding (Zvoch et al., 2021). Research has indicated that teachers and students benefit from the student-centered approach of inquiry-based learning (Huang et al., 2021; Keiler, 2018; Moyer et al., 2018; Zvoch et al., 2021). Moyer et al. (2018) showed that high school students in an inquiry-based program tended to have a more positive view of mathematics than students not in the program.

Students' conceptual understanding of density improved from pre- to post-test in a middle school science lesson following an inquiry-based lesson (Zvoch et al., 2021). However, the authors did not determine a significant difference between students in the inquiry-based class and students in the direct instruction class (Zvoch et al., 2021). In a program where students were responsible for guiding their peers during inquiry learning, teachers became more open to allowing students to lead mathematical discussions (Keiler, 2018). Additionally, secondary school math students in Beijing reported IBL experiences that involved more student discussions and explanations of ideas (Huang et al., 2021). Therefore, although the research has indicated IBL does not necessarily make substantial differences in achievement compared to direct instruction, students are more likely to engage in mathematical discussion and reasoning and teachers are more likely to incorporate student-led discussions with this approach.

Student-Centered Learning and Student Achievement

The literature previously discussed has shown benefits of SCL in mathematics, such as the positive impact on student perspective of math and increased student collaboration and communication. However, some research on SCL in mathematics has also shown an increase in student achievement (Bishop et al., 2018; Jamaan et al., 2020). Bishop et al. (2018) found that college students enrolled in a developmental math course had higher course success rates with SCL than those enrolled in the same class with direct instruction. In a study of Indonesian geometry students, problem-based learning showed higher scores on geometry learning outcomes than students who learned from the scientific learning approach, which involved teacher-led instruction (Jamaan et al., 2020).

Although some research has indicated higher success from SCL than teacher-directed learning, other research has shown no significant differences (Craig & Marshall, 2019; Zvoch et

al., 2021). In a study of Texas high school math and science PBL students, Craig and Marshall (2019) found no significant difference in math achievement on the state exam from ninth to eleventh grade compared to the control group. However, the authors did report findings of significantly higher science scores from students in PBL compared to the control group (Craig & Marshall, 2019). Additionally, middle school science students in IBL showed no significant differences in post-achievement compared to students receiving direct instruction (Zvoch et al., 2021). However, the inquiry-based students in this study were more likely to reach highly proficient status than direct instruction students (Zvoch et al., 2021).

Teachers and students benefit from the use of SCL in mathematics classes (Cheng & Ding, 2021; Keiler, 2018; Morrison et al., 2021). The benefits of SCL in mathematics classes involve more than performance achievement. For example, in a qualitative study of teachers and students from a PBL-based high school, students reported that use of student-centered projects helped them improve skills and develop interactions with peers (Morrison et al., 2021). Cheng and Ding (2021) reported that students in the learner-centered experimental group had significantly higher intrinsic motivation that those in the traditional group. Additionally, teachers in the learner-centered group had significantly higher mean scores on facilitating learning, supportive assessment such as peer-evaluation and self-reflection, and empowering students to take ownership of their learning than the traditional learning to SCL also made positive comments about a shift in their teaching identity after using SCL that included becoming more of a facilitator, motivator, and content resource rather than content provider (Keiler, 2018).

Although the literature on student achievement through SCL is conflicting, there is some evidence of learning gains through SCL and increased student engagement (Bishop et al., 2018;

Jamaan et al., 2020; Talbert et al., 2019). The literature discussed that showed no significant differences in student achievement did not address teachers' perceptions of SCL or level of preparedness to implement. Other literature has indicated that some teachers have challenges adapting to SCL practices, such as time constraints and perceived student ability (Akhter et al., 2018; Corkin et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2020; Xie & Cai, 2020). Therefore, it is essential to identify teachers' conceptions regarding SCL and ways to support these teachers as they transition from traditional to student-centered instructional practices.

High School Math Teachers Beliefs About Student-Centered Learning

High school math teachers are transitioning to more student-centered practices for teaching and learning for various reasons. Some education agencies call for more SCL in mathematics classes (Bishop et al., 2018; McPherson, 2021; Valoyes-Chávez, 2019). Others implement SCL practices because of their teaching beliefs and philosophies (Berger & Lê Van, 2019; Davis et al., 2020; Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). Most teachers are familiar with SCL approaches to teaching mathematics but may not frequently implement the practices (Davis et al., 2020; Yurekli et al., 2020). High school teachers with progressive educational beliefs also tended to have constructivist teaching and learning conceptions (Yalcin İncik, 2018). Conversely, Corkin et al. (2019) found that K-12 in-service math teachers in Texas struggled to describe a constructivist teaching philosophy but did describe using activities consistent with SCL. In a mixed methods study of pre-service and in-service teachers in Columbia, one of the three in-service participants reported constructivist views of teaching mathematics on questionnaires, but an analysis of lesson plans indicated use of traditional teaching approaches (Vesga-Bravo et al., 2022). The literature also indicated that the frequency to which math teachers implement SCL varies for a variety of reasons, including their teaching beliefs, teacher self-efficacy, and barriers to implementation (Berger & Lê Van, 2019; Corkin et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2020; Yurekli et al., 2020).

Teachers' Beliefs

Dejene (2020) and Yang et al. (2020) found that teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning may impact how often they implement SCL in their classrooms. These beliefs can positively or negatively impact the frequency of use of SCL practices in mathematics classes. A case study of teachers in different content areas found that the beliefs teachers held about teaching and learning prior to SCL PD influenced how they perceived their SCL experience (Dunbar & Yaday, 2022). Teachers typically hold either a constructivist view of teaching mathematics or a traditionalist view (Vesga-Bravo et al., 2022). Among eight pre-service and inservice math teachers in Columbia, all but one self-reported constructivist beliefs of math teaching and learning (Vesga-Bravo et al., 2022). However, in semi-structured interviews, only five of these teachers indicated constructivist beliefs (Vesga-Bravo et al., 2022). Pre-service teachers enrolled in a graduate program tended to have traditional conceptions of teaching and learning (Dejene, 2020). The traditional conceptions of the teachers in the study were positively correlated with their preferred instructional approaches, which also tended to be traditional (Dejene, 2020). Conversely, Chinese pre-service math teachers with dynamic math beliefs and constructivist pedagogical beliefs predicted their self-reported inquiry-oriented instructional practices (Yang et al., 2020). However, Yurekli et al. (2020) found that, although math teachers had positive beliefs regarding reformed teaching practices, they did not always report implementing the approaches which they believed to be important.

Teachers' lack of confidence regarding student-centered practices may negatively impact their implementation of SCL (Akhter et al., 2018; Klein & Leikin, 2020; Yurekli et al., 2020). In their study, Klein and Leikin (2020) found a negative association between math teachers' conceptions of students' ability to solve tasks and the teachers' confidence to implement the tasks. Elementary teachers in Pakistan who perceived their students' ability to learn challenging math concepts as low were less likely to report using SCL approaches for those concepts (Akhter et al., 2018). Teachers who believe that students will struggle with independently learning math concepts may be less likely to implement SCL strategies. However, Yurekli et al. (2020) concluded that teachers in their study typically held positive beliefs about utilizing practices that promote conceptual understanding, which is an essential aspect of SCL. Research has demonstrated that years of experience and changes in identity related to changes in instructional practices may account for some more positive beliefs towards SCL (Keiler, 2018; Wilkie, 2019; Xie & Cai, 2020).

Teaching Experience. Some literature has suggested that teachers' beliefs regarding teaching and learning mathematics may depend on their teaching and learning experiences (Klein & Leikin, 2020; Xie & Cai, 2020). Teachers with more experience using SCL techniques, such as task-based learning, PBL, and IBL, tend to have more confidence in implementing those approaches in their classrooms (Hayward & Laursen, 2018; Klein & Leikin, 2020; Lee & Blanchard, 2019). In a study of pre-service math teachers in China, Yang et al. (2020) found that teachers who had more dynamic views of teaching mathematics were more likely to utilize IBL in their math classes. In contrast, a case study of pre-service teachers in middle school STEM classes taught through SCL approaches found all but two of the 13 participants de-valued the project-based learning program because of its lesser focus on standards and content-based learning (Scogin et al., 2022). Xie and Cai (2020) concluded in their study of high school math teachers in China that longer teaching experience did not imply teachers held constructivist

views of teaching and learning. In fact, teachers with more than 20 years of experience were more likely to agree that teaching mathematics is a transmission of knowledge when compared to teachers with less experience (Xie & Cai, 2020). This belief is in opposition to the principles of SCL and is more consistent with traditional teaching. It is important to note that teachers with experience using SCL practices tend to have stronger beliefs regarding SCL. Therefore, teachers transitioning from direct instruction to SCL approaches may benefit from peer or coach support (Corkin et al., 2019; Lee & Blanchard, 2019; Wilkie, 2019).

Changes in Teacher Identity. Researchers have agreed that changing teachers' identities and practices is time-consuming and ongoing (Heyd-Metzuyanim, 2019; McPherson, 2021; Valoyes-Chávez, 2019). However, teachers willing to attempt new teaching practices such as SCL are likely to experience a change in teacher identity (Keiler, 2018; McPherson, 2021; Wilkie, 2019). Keiler (2018) determined that identity changes of secondary teachers in their study included a gain in insight about individual students and more substantial effects in adopting SCL practices. Teachers' lack of familiarity regarding constructivist pedagogies may impact teachers' beliefs about their classroom practices (Heyd-Metzuyanim, 2019).

The degree to which teacher identity changes may be impacted by the level of support they receive regarding changes in teaching practices (McPherson, 2021; Valoyes-Chávez, 2019; Wilkie, 2019). Depending on the school expectations, math teachers are expected to carry out multiple roles, such as a director or a facilitator, which may impact a teacher's identity if not made clear by school administration (Valoyes-Chávez, 2019). In one case study, the teacher under study developed a deeper understanding of constructivist pedagogies through support from a teacher-leader and the principal, and thus was able to identify and align to a set of pedagogies (Heyd-Metzuyanim, 2019). If teachers perceive support from the school or district personnel, they may be more likely to experiment with new teaching practices. New teaching practices are shown to impact changes in teacher identity (Keiler, 2018; McPherson, 2021). Teachers' beliefs about the new approaches and their impact on using them in the classroom warrants further examination.

Teacher Self-Efficacy

Recent literature has confirmed that higher teacher self-efficacy positively influences teachers' use of instructional approaches, such as SCL (Emery et al., 2021; Thurm & Barzel, 2020). For university STEM faculty in the United States, self-efficacy in teaching strongly influenced biology faculty's learner-centered teaching practices (Emery et al., 2021). Faculty trained in student-centered STEM practices tended to have higher self-efficacy than faculty who did not (Emery et al., 2021). Thurm and Barzel (2020) found that mathematics teachers' selfefficacy increased after participating in PD which involved learning how to teach multiple representations using technology. After being trained in and implementing a student-centered approach to teaching math, one teacher experienced increased feelings of self-efficacy reportedly due the level of confidence that students are engaged in mathematics discussion (Keiler, 2018). These findings echo other studies indicating that pre-service and in-service math teachers with higher self-efficacy may attempt new instructional approaches in line with constructivist principles (Corkin et al., 2019; Lau, 2021). Berger and Lê Van (2019) concluded that selfefficacy is part of a teacher's core identity, which is also comprised of commitment to teaching, aptitude, and social utility value. The relationship between teachers' beliefs and the frequent use of constructivist teaching approaches may justify further investigation on how beliefs impact the implementation of SCL practices.

Higher or increased levels of self-efficacy do not necessarily indicate a willingness to change instructional practices. In a case study of secondary math teachers in Australia, one teacher with apparently high self-efficacy towards teaching mathematics would not change her approaches to teaching algebra, despite being trained in new methods (Wilkie, 2019). This finding is consistent with the findings of Xie and Cai (2020) that indicated that math teachers with more than 21 years of teaching experience tend to believe that students need repeated practice and memorization. This belief is a contrast to SCL practices and more in line with traditional views of teaching mathematics. Therefore, teachers may have high self-efficacy towards teaching mathematics or trying new practices, but their beliefs in how mathematics should be taught may be more consistent with traditional teaching practices than constructivist.

Constraints to Implementing Student-Centered Learning

Besides teachers' teaching and learning beliefs and their teaching self-efficacy, the literature illustrated other barriers to implementing SCL (Akhter et al., 2018; Corkin et al., 2019; Yurekli et al., 2020). Some studies suggested that time is a constraint due to additional preparation and planning and time to implement (Akhter et al., 2018; Corkin et al., 2019; Emery et al., 2021). In Pakistan, elementary math teachers indicated that they do not have enough time to plan or prepare for SCL approaches (Akhter et al., 2018). Similarly, teachers who transitioned to SCL in middle and high schools in Idaho identified the time to develop and implement SCL activities as a challenge (McPherson, 2021). K-12 in-service math teachers in urban Texas schools indicated that developing deep understanding is time-consuming and that there is limited instructional time in the school year to meet pacing requirements (Corkin et al., 2019). In each of these studies, teachers understood the principles of SCL but did not perceive that there was enough time to plan for and implement SCL practices. Similarly, teachers in a case study

reported that strict pacing to cover standards and testing restricts efforts to implement PBL, especially with little support from school or district administration (Dunbar & Yadav, 2022).

Additionally, teachers' perceptions of their students may hinder SCL use in their math classes (Corkin et al., 2019; Yurekli et al., 2020). Yurekli et al. (2020) concluded that teachers in grades four through eight revealed student backgrounds as one of the significant constraints on implementing SCL. Similarly, the teachers in urban Texas schools cited students' basic needs not being met, rough home life, and student background as challenges to implementing SCL (Corkin et al., 2019). Low-achieving students in Beijing and Netherlands reported using less IBL, whereas higher achieving students reported more frequent use (Huang et al., 2021). This finding may suggest that teachers may be more likely to use more student-centered practices with higher achieving students. Based on the findings of the literature discussed, teachers may have positive conceptions of SCL practices but may be hesitant to implement them because of the constraints faced, such as time involved to plan and implement and perceived student ability.

Professional Development for Student-Centered Learning

Teachers may be more likely to utilize SCL approaches if provided appropriate support through PD opportunities (Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; Dunbar & Yadav, 2022; Hayward & Laursen, 2018; Owens et al., 2018). Math teachers who receive professional training on student-centered practices may implement them more frequently in their classrooms (Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; Corkin et al., 2019; Hayward & Laursen, 2018). Recent research has suggested that allowing teachers to make decisions regarding their PD choices and instructional practices may be beneficial for implementing new approaches (Corkin et al., 2019; Dunbar & Yadav, 2022; Owens et al., 2018; Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). Dunbar and Yadav (2022) concluded from their case study that teachers may benefit from experimenting with new pedagogy, such as PBL, before adopting new practices. Some STEM teachers have indicated preferences of professional training to include aspects of SCL, such as problem-based learning (Owens et al., 2018). Shuilleabhain and Seery (2018) suggested that teachers who voluntarily participate in PD may be more likely to try new practices.

PD for math teachers implementing SCL practices should also incorporate ongoing support to sustain changes in the classroom (Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; Hayward & Laursen, 2018; Liu & Phelps, 2020). Liu and Phelps (2020) concluded that math teachers in Texas had an average knowledge decay rate of 37 days following PD. Implications from this study indicate that follow-up activities, including follow-up support, may help teachers sustain knowledge gained from PD. Heyd-Metzuyanim (2019) suggested that when teachers are implementing new instructional practices, their classes should be observed with open dialogue regarding the instructional practices used. College math instructors who received online support following IBL PD reported continued use of the practices one year later (Hayward & Laursen, 2018). In Ireland, math teachers showed increased efficacy in implementing new constructivist pedagogies after participating in cycles of a collaborative lesson study (Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). Therefore, math teachers who willingly participate in PD for SCL practices may sustain these learning approaches in their math classes. Teachers may have strong conceptions of constructivist teaching but may not implement SCL in their classes, thus justifying further investigation.

Features of Effective PD for Student-Centered Math Practices

Different features of teacher PD may impact teachers' beliefs regarding changed curriculum and implementing SCL instructional practices (Heck et al., 2019; Owens et al., 2018; Thurm & Barzel, 2020). For example, elementary math teachers in one study were assigned to one of three types of professional learning experiences, which were a face-to-face facilitated workshop, a multimedia course, or through curriculum materials including student work examples (Heck et al., 2019). Although none of the three formats were more effective than the others, teachers in all three showed improvements in their instructional practices using context to teach early algebra concepts (Heck et al., 2019). It is important to note that teachers who are used to traditional pedagogies not only need to learn the new instructional practice, but they must also unlearn the old ones (Heyd-Metzuyanim, 2019). It has been recommended that effective teacher PD consider the following aspects: collective participation, content knowledge, learner-centered activities, and program duration with follow-up support (Desimone et al., 2002; Guskey, 2002; Hill & Ball, 2004; Kennedy, 2016).

Different aspects of teacher PD are important for math teachers, such as the structure, time to learn, and content of the PD (Owens et al., 2018; Thurm & Barzel, 2020). According to Owens et al. (2018), teachers preferred half-day or full-day face-to-face workshops in their district, but also want access to ready-to-use materials and time to learn from their peers. Thurm and Barzel (2020) suggested that face-to-face PD throughout the school year may have a positive impact on teachers' beliefs regarding using technology to teach multiple representations in mathematics. In their study, the PD occurred over four sessions with time between for teachers to implement the strategies and reflect on their practices (Thurm & Barzel, 2020). Similarly, another study aimed to investigate the effects of PD on secondary teachers' mathematics pedagogical technology knowledge (MPKT) using dynamic math tools to teach (Clark-Wilson & Hoyles, 2019). The authors utilized a lesson study approach—teachers participated in a one-day session, implemented strategies in their classes, then returned for reflection (Clark-Wilson & Hoyles, 2019). Although the teachers lacked confidence, according to Clark-Wilson and Hoyles (2019), teachers reported seeing the value in teaching with the dynamic math tools. Based on the results of their study, Lee and Vongkulluksn (2023) recommended providing teachers with continuous opportunities that allow them to reflect on the practices they learn in PD to shape student outcomes. The findings in these studies incorporated key features of PD that improved teaching, such as focusing on content knowledge and collective participation (Kennedy, 2016). Clark-Wilson and Hoyles recommended focusing PD activities on the planning, teaching, and reflection of instructional activities that promote rethinking and extending previously learned mathematics ideas.

Ongoing Support for Teachers

Recent literature has indicated that program duration is an essential feature for teacher PD to ensure sustainability of program content (Byrne & Prendergast, 2020; Horn et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2020). According to Byrne and Prendergast (2020), secondary math teachers in Ireland that used a reformed curriculum indicated the need and want for continuous PD on implementing the curriculum in their classes. Another study found that elementary math teachers involved in in-depth coaching sessions throughout the school year utilized reformed practices in their classrooms, such as building students' conceptual understanding and advanced questioning (Russell et al., 2020). Additionally, Horn et al. (2020) indicated that schools should cultivate high-depth meetings involving teacher collaboration throughout the school year for professional learning to be meaningful. Based on the findings of these studies, instructional coaching and professional learning communities may increase teachers' implementation of SCL instructional practices.

Instructional Coaching. One type of PD discussed in the literature to support mathematics teachers' implementation of SCL instructional practices is instructional coaching

(Horn et al., 2020; Keiler, 2018; Russell et al., 2020). Keiler (2018) concluded that teachers who received coaching that included modeled lessons, guidance, and encouragement made significant progress in their teaching transformations incorporating SCL. Similarly, Russell et al. (2020) found that third through eighth grade teachers with a coach showed high rates of growth in depth and specificity of conceptual understanding. The teachers in this study engaged in deep and specific conversations that focused on interactions between teachers, students, and mathematics and improved their approaches to develop students' conceptual understanding by giving students more opportunities with high level math tasks (Russell et al., 2020). Features of instructional coaching that are beneficial to teachers implementing SCL instructional practices include high-depth conversations with colleagues, collaboration in lesson planning, and conceptually rich conversations (Horn et al., 2020; Russell et al., 2020).

Professional Learning Networks. As previously noted, teachers are likely to seek advice and learn from colleagues with similarities (Horn et al., 2020). Thus, research on professional learning networks has shown to impact discussions among math teachers regarding involvement in pedagogy and content (Larsen & Parrish, 2019; Matranga & Silverman, 2022). Professional learning can occur in person or online; this is also true of teacher networks. In person, Horn et al. (2020) reported that math teachers who participated in high-depth conversations about mathematical knowledge for teaching with peers increased their discussions about pedagogy and content. Math teachers involved in online PD with community discussion boards to support their reasoning about functions improved their discourse and collaboration, indicating community-building (Matranga & Silverman, 2022). Some math teachers utilized social media (Twitter, Facebook, Pinterest, etc.) to make connections with like-minded peers who share resources aligned with their pedagogies, which were centered around reform-based

approaches (Larsen & Parrish, 2019). Therefore, developing a professional learning network with other math teachers may help support teachers' implementation of SCL practices.

Implementing Student-Centered Learning Strategies

Previous sections discussed the benefits of SCL on student achievement, teachers' beliefs, self-efficacy, perceived constraints to implementing SCL, and PD that prepares teachers to use SCL. Teachers' perceived value of SCL and self-efficacy may be a considerable factor as to why and how teachers implement SCL practices (Lee & Blanchard, 2019; McPherson, 2021). Some studies have shown that teachers find success sustaining implementation of studentcentered practices with support from colleagues or instructional coaches (Cheng & Ding, 2021; Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; Hayward & Laursen, 2018; Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). However, teachers found more success implementing SCL in a school where administration supported innovative teaching methods, such as SCL (Cheng & Ding, 2021). Yet some research has indicated that teachers either may not sustain SCL practices or may have difficulties launching them in their classrooms because of their perceptions of the strategies (Prendergast & Treacy, 2018; Valoyes-Chávez, 2019; Wilkie, 2019). Teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning and their self-efficacy towards implementing SCL may be a factor in the frequency with which they use SCL in their mathematics classes.

A teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning impacts their classroom practices (Prendergast & Treacy, 2018; Xie & Cai, 2020; Yang et al., 2020; Yurekli et al., 2020). Chinese pre-service mathematics teachers' beliefs about the dynamic nature of mathematics and their constructivist pedagogical beliefs were positively associated with their self-reported use of inquiry-oriented instructional practices (Yang et al., 2020). In-service teachers in Colombia who reported constructivist beliefs of mathematics teaching and learning also utilized constructivist practices in their classroom lesson plans (Vesga-Bravo et al., 2022). Yurekli et al. (2020) found that teachers had positive beliefs regarding students learning mathematics through reformed practices, including building conceptual understanding using multiple representations. However, teachers in this study also report constraints on implementation, such as limited time, class size, and lack of support (Yurekli et al., 2020). In their study of middle school math teachers, Lee and Vongkulluksn (2023) found that teachers' epistemological beliefs could positively and significantly predict how often the teachers used strategies that engaged math students in constructivist learning approaches. In other studies, researchers found that teachers valued static mathematics learning approaches, such as procedure-based algebra and drilling math skills, and did not want to neglect such methods of learning by using SCL (Prendergast & Treacy, 2018; Xie & Cai, 2020). Thus, it is essential for schools to foster collaboration and support for teachers implementing new student-centered pedagogies.

As previously discussed, teachers implementing new instructional approaches benefit from collective participation and collaboration (Hayward & Laursen, 2018; Kennedy, 2016; Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). For example, teachers participating in a collective lesson study that focused on reform mathematics showed teachers shifted their lesson planning and teaching toward more constructivist approaches (Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). Similarly, teachers incorporating IBL reported increased use of IBL in their classrooms after having access to an online support community with other IBL instructors (Hayward & Laursen, 2018). These studies indicate teachers move towards SCL practices with support from colleagues. However, in one study, prospective and practicing math teachers involved in planning and implementing a lesson using a rich math task tended to respond to students using teacher-directed explanations (Ayalon et al., 2021). That is, teachers responded to students by telling or explaining, instead of fostering students' mathematical discourse (Ayalon et al., 2021). This finding not only conflicts with other studies' findings, but also conflicts with SCL and is important to consider when studying teachers' conceptions and use of SCL.

Summary

Recent research has suggested that SCL approaches enhance the learning experiences for high school math students by increasing student engagement and achievement (Bishop et al., 2018; Talbert et al., 2019). Other benefits experienced by students include more collaboration and communication, more positive outlooks on mathematics, and engaging in various strategies for problem-solving. Some high school math teachers are more confident and comfortable implementing SCL approaches than their more traditional counterparts. Additionally, math teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning and their abilities to teach using constructivist pedagogies may affect their use of student-centered activities in the math classroom.

This study's theoretical framework is cognitive constructivism, teacher beliefs, and selfefficacy. These theories provide a foundation for understanding why teachers incorporate different instructional approaches in their classes. Investigating the impacts of SCL on student achievement may help educators understand the importance of implementing SCL in high school math classes. Some research has demonstrated potential benefits of SCL for students that include better achievement rates than direct instruction, increased student engagement during lessons, and the development of critical thinking skills (Bishop et al., 2018; Morrison et al., 2021; Talbert et al., 2019). Additionally, teachers were also found to benefit from the use of SCL by developing stronger student-teacher relationships, having more confidence and competence, and developing community among colleagues through open discussion and collaboration regarding pedagogical decisions (Lee & Blanchard, 2019; Morrison et al., 2021; Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018).

However, the shift from teacher-centered, or direct learning, to student-centered instruction has not occurred frequently in mathematics (Yurekli et al., 2020). Teachers' self-efficacy and beliefs of teaching and learning may impact teachers' levels of confidence and comfort in implementing SCL (Emery et al., 2021). Studies have found relationships between teachers' beliefs and their reported use of SCL (Xie & Cai, 2020; Yang et al., 2020; Yurekli et al., 2020). The gap in the literature warrants examining teachers' views of teaching and learning with their observed use of SCL instructional practices regularly. Teachers may report using SCL approaches frequently; however, understanding the observed extent of implementing such instructional practices compared to teachers' beliefs of teaching and learning may add to this literature. This research study contributes to the existing literature by comparing teachers' views of traditional and constructivist learning to SCL practices in high school math classes.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

The purpose of this quantitative, correlational study is to investigate if there is a relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and the extent to which they utilize SCL strategies in their classes. This chapter introduces the design of the study, including definitions of all variables, the research question, and the null hypotheses. This chapter also includes an introduction of the participants, instrumentation, procedures, and plan for data analysis.

Design

The research design for this quantitative study is a nonexperimental, predictive correlational design (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019; Gall et al., 2007). Correlational research design aims to investigate the relationship between two or more variables, the predictor variable(s) and criterion variable(s) (Gall et al., 2007). The purpose for this study is to determine if there is a predictive relationship between the two predictor variables, high school math teachers' constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning and their traditional conceptions, and one criterion variable, the extent teachers use SCL practices in the math classroom. Correlational studies are helpful in educational studies because the results may be used to make predictions about future outcomes (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). However, a limitation to this research design is that the correlations cannot establish cause-and-effect relationships (Gall et al., 2007). There may be other variables that affect teachers' use of SCL instructional practices.

In prediction correlational research, predictor variables are used to make predictions about future scores on the criterion variable (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Additionally, all variables in prediction correlational research must be quantitative and continuous (Gall et al., 2007). Data for a predication correlational study is collected from a homogenous group of participants and analyzed for possible relationships (Gall et al., 2007). In this study, the predictor variables are high school math teachers' constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning and traditional conceptions. The criterion variable is a score of the extent of SCL practices used in the math classroom. For this study, two research instruments that yield scores on a continuous scale were used to measure a possible relationship between a combination of the two predictor variables and one criterion variable, justifying a correlational study. The participants of this study are from a homogeneous group of high school math teachers. These teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning will be measured and scored prior to data collection on their use of SCL practices. The predictor and criterion variables are analyzed for possible relationships within one group.

A similar study investigated the relationship between pre-service teachers' mathematics beliefs, mathematics self-efficacy, and mathematics teaching efficacy, as well as their conceptions of teaching and learning (Lau, 2021). A predictive correlational design was used, which found that traditional conceptions, such as valuing memorization of math skills and procedures, were positively predicted by formal mathematics teaching beliefs and negatively predicted by constructivist teaching beliefs (Lau, 2021).

Research Question

RQ: How accurately can the reform-based practices score, which measures the extent of teachers' SCL practices, be predicted by the linear combination of teacher conceptions of constructivist and traditional teaching and learning?

Hypothesis

The null hypothesis for this study is:

Ho: There will be no significant predictive relationship between the criterion variable, teachers' use of SCL practices, as measured by the Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol, and the linear combination of predictor variables (teacher conceptions of constructivist teaching and learning methods and teacher conceptions of traditional methods) as measured by the Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire for high school mathematics teachers.

Participants and Setting

This section of the chapter includes a description of the population, the participants, sampling technique, and sample size. A description of the setting follows these sections.

Population

The participants for this study were drawn from a convenience sample of high school math teachers located in northeastern South Carolina during the 2022-2023 school year. In South Carolina, the school districts operate as county or sub-county units. The county where the school district is located is a midsize, suburban county. The school district's population is 77% white, 13% black, 6% Hispanic, 1% Asian, and 2% two or more races. The school district in this study is one of the largest in South Carolina, consisting of 13 public high schools serving grades nine through 12. The number of math teachers at each high school in the district varies; however, there are about 120 high school math teachers. Students in the school district are required to complete four Carnegie units in mathematics, including Algebra 1, Geometry, Algebra 2, Pre-Calculus, Probability and Statistics, or Calculus. Most, but not all, math teachers in the school district participate semi-annually in district-based PD that is rooted in principles of SCL.

Participants

The number of participants for this study is 68, which is greater than the required minimum for correlational analysis when assuming a medium effect size with a statistical power

Table 1

Characteristic	Ν	Percentage
Gender		
Male	29	42.6%
Female	39	57.4%
Math Course Taught		
Algebra 1	8	11.8%
Foundations in Algebra	8	11.8%
Intermediate Algebra	8	11.8%
Geometry	12	17.6%
Algebra 2	9	13.2%
Pre-Calculus	8	11.8%
Calculus	5	7.4%
Probability & Statistics	10	14.7%

Participants' Demographics and Math Courses Taught (n = 68)

of 0.7 at the 0.05 alpha level (Gall et al., 2007). The required minimum number for a correlational study under these assumptions is 66 teachers (Gall et al., 2007). The sample will be selected from the high school math teachers who attended the district-based PD in August 2022. Teachers will be selected based on the sessions they attended at the PD, which will incorporate the practice of SCL instruction. Table 1 shows participants' demographics and the math courses they taught while the study was ongoing.

Setting

The setting for this study is in the mathematics classrooms of the teachers included in the sample from the South Carolina school district. The classrooms may comprise any mathematics courses offered in the school district, including algebra 1, geometry, algebra 2, pre-calculus, probability and statistics, and calculus.

Instrumentation

This study used two instruments. One instrument measured the predictor variables,

teachers' constructivist conceptions and traditional conceptions of teaching and learning. The other measured the criterion variable, the teachers' scores on the extent of their use of SCL practices in their classes. This section discusses the descriptions, purposes, validity, and use of each instrument.

Teaching and Learning Conceptions

The Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire (TLCQ) is used to measure the predictor variables—teachers' conceptions of constructivist teaching and learning and teachers' conceptions of traditional teaching and learning (Chan & Elliott, 2004). The purpose of this instrument is to measure teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning on a constructivist perspective and traditional perspective, as well as preferred ways of teaching and learning and the roles of teachers and students (Chan & Elliott, 2004). See Appendix E for the instrument. Permission for the use of this instrument has been granted by Bob Elliott (see Appendix F). This instrument was developed in conjunction with another instrument, the Epistemological Beliefs Questionnaire (EBQ). The researchers developed the instruments to use as a tool to investigate the relationships between teachers' epistemological beliefs and their conceptions about teaching and learning (Chan & Elliott, 2004). According to Chan and Elliott (2004), before the development of the TLCQ, there was little research on how teachers' beliefs affected their instructional practices.

Recent studies used the TLCQ to examine teachers' and pre-service teachers' educational beliefs, conceptions of teaching and learning, and their effect on teaching practices and pedagogical beliefs (Berger & Lê Van, 2019; Dejene, 2020; Yalcin İncik, 2018). Dejene (2020) used the TLCQ in a correlational study investigating the relationship between pre-service teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and their preferred teaching method. The preservice teachers who scored higher in the traditional teaching subscale tended to prefer traditional teaching methods (Dejene, 2020). In another correlational study, Yalcin İncik (2018) used the TLCQ to investigate the relationship between teachers' educational beliefs and their conceptions of teaching and learning on gender and years of experience. Contrary to Dejene's finding, this study concluded that females and teachers with less than five years of teaching experience were more likely to score higher on the constructivist scale (Yalcin İncik, 2018). Similarly, Berger and Lê Van (2019) found that more teaching expertise was positively associated with higher direct transmission teaching (traditional). Like these other correlational studies, the TLCQ is an appropriate instrument for measuring the current study's predictor variables.

The TLCQ is a 30-item questionnaire on a five-point Likert scale, with responses ranging from 1 being strongly disagree to 5 strongly agree. The questionnaire includes items related to traditional teaching and learning beliefs and items based on constructivist teaching and learning beliefs (Chan & Elliott, 2004). The questions were developed using instruments from related studies and interviews with teacher education students. The Cronbach's alpha for the whole scale was .86. Exploratory factor analysis resulted in two subscales, traditional and constructivist, which each had a .84 Cronbach alpha (Chan & Elliott, 2004). Chan and Elliott used confirmatory factor analysis to validate the instrument.

The questionnaire includes 18 items on the traditional subscale and 12 items on the constructivist subscale (Chan & Elliott, 2004). The traditional items are consistent with teachercentered teaching beliefs, and the constructivist items are compatible with principles of SCL. The instrument is scored based on the two subscales, producing an average score ranging from one to five on each, constructivist and traditional. Therefore, the possible outcomes of scores range from one to five. Each participant will receive a score on the constructivist subscale and on the traditional subscale. A high score on the constructivist subscale indicates that the teacher tends to believe that learning experiences should allow students to explore and generate knowledge. A high score on the traditional subscale indicates that the teacher tends to believe traditional, teacher-directed approaches to learning are more appropriate. A lower score on either subscale indicates that the teacher does not hold beliefs in that system. The TLCQ was administered online to teachers following participation in district-based teacher PD. The questionnaire took participants approximately 20 minutes to complete. The results were scored using statistical software.

Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol

The Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol (RTOP) is used to measure the criterion variable, which is the score of the extent which teachers use SCL practices (Sawada et al., 2002). The instrument aims to measure whether mathematics or science teachers are using reform-based methods in their classrooms. See Appendix G for the instrument. Permission for the use of this instrument was granted by Daniel MacIsaac, one of the co-developers of the instrument (see Appendix H). Sawada et al. (2002) defined reformed teaching as teaching that empowers students and teachers to develop critical thinking and has a culture that supports moving from traditional to constructivist teaching and learning. Instrument development and validation was a two-year process. The authors developed the items using related literature and professional standards for mathematics and science teachers (Sawada et al., 2002). Predictive validity was determined through a series of observations collected on different community college and university campuses. Two or more trained observers completed observations of the same class and compared results immediately (Sawada et al., 2002).

Other studies have used the RTOP to investigate changes in teachers' instructional practices following PD (Blanchard et al., 2016; Davis et al., 2020; Ebert-May et al., 2015). For example, Blanchard et al. (2016) used the RTOP to measure middle school teachers' use of student-centered classroom practices before participation in PD and in the years to follow. At the post-secondary level, the RTOP was used to find differences in the teaching practices of postdoctoral fellows who participated in different versions of a PD program (Ebert-May et al., 2015). More recently, Davis et al. (2020) used the RTOP to informally observe mathematics teachers and use the data to guide conversations. Therefore, the RTOP is an appropriate tool for this study to measure the extent teachers use SCL instructional practices in high school mathematics classes.

The RTOP consists of three scales—lesson design and implementation, content, and classroom culture—confirmed using factor analysis (Sawada et al., 2002). The lesson design and implementation scale include five items concerning engaging learners in constructing knowledge based on students' prior knowledge. This scale had a Cronbach's alpha value of .91 (Sawada et al., 2002). The content scale consists of two subscales, propositional knowledge and procedural knowledge, with a Cronbach's alpha value of .80 and .93, respectively. Finally, the third scale, classroom culture, contains subscales on communicative interactions and student/teacher relationships, which both had a Cronbach's alpha value of .91 (Sawada et al., 2002). Interrater reliability was obtained using best-fit linear regression comparing different observers' scores on the same instructors' classes (Sawada et al., 2002). The scores for the pairs of observers had a correlation coefficient of .98 and 95% variance between observers (Sawada et al., 2002).

The RTOP consists of 25 items about which reformed instruction occurs in the classroom, as defined by Sawada et al. (2002). Each item is scored from 0 being never occurred

to 4 being very descriptive. The possible total score can range from 0 to 100. A score ranging from 0 to 30 indicates straight lecture method, 31 to 45 indicates lecture with some student participation, 46 to 60 involves student engagement with some hands-on learning, 61 to 75 involves active student involvement in learning, and 76 to 100 indicates active student learning with inquiry and student reflection (Ebert-May et al., 2015). Observers must be trained to score the items before administering the observation tool (Ebert-May et al., 2015; Sawada et al., 2002). The RTOP website contains teaching videos with completed RTOP scoresheets as a reference (Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol, 2007). The researcher viewed each of these videos, used the RTOP to score, and compared the results to the posted scoresheets. Other studies used multiple observers (Blanchard et al., 2016; Ebert-May et al., 2015); however, for the present study, the researcher was the only observer. The observations occurred over two months. Each teacher participant was observed by the researcher in their classroom once during the two months for a 30-minute segment of their 90-minute teaching block.

Procedures

Before collecting data, an Institutional Review Board (IRB) application was sent to Liberty University and approval was granted (see Appendix A). After obtaining IRB approval, the researcher sent a research proposal to the school district (Appendix B). Once permission was granted from the school district (see Appendix C) to send the online questionnaire to high school math teachers and to conduct observations in their classrooms, the researcher obtained permission from each base school principal to complete the observations in their school building.

After all permissions were granted, the researcher emailed the potential teacher participants who attended the district-based PD. The email contained information about the purpose of the study and the data collection process, including the questionnaire and classroom observation protocol, and how the information will remain confidential. Teachers' names were collected on the surveys for the purposes of pairing their score on the TLCQ with their score on the RTOP. Only the researcher had access to this information. The email also contained details on providing consent for participation. The directions to complete the TLCQ were included in the email, with a link to the questionnaire (see Appendix D). Once teachers completed the questionnaire, they also gave consent for their mathematics classrooms to be observed by the researcher. For anonymity, the researcher assigned each teacher participant an identification number. The researcher stored data collected from the TLCQ in a protected spreadsheet that only the researcher sent a follow-up email as a second request to any teachers who did not complete the questionnaire within the two-week time frame. After teacher participants completed the TLCQ, the average for the constructivist items was calculated and the average for the traditional items was calculated. Each of these scores were organized by identification number in a password protected spreadsheet accessible only by the researcher.

After the teacher participants were identified from the questionnaires, the researcher coordinated with each teachers' base school principal, instructional coach, and teacher participants to schedule days and times to begin conducting classroom observations using the RTOP. During each observation, the researcher used a Google Form to report the scores on the RTOP, which were populated into a separate spreadsheet accessible only by the researcher. The researcher used that spreadsheet to calculate the total score for each participant on the RTOP. After all observations were conducted and scored, the researcher recorded the RTOP scores into the protected spreadsheet that paired the RTOP scores with the scores from the TLCQ. The spreadsheet was saved to a password-protected drive that only the researcher can access.

Once data from each instrument was scored and recorded, the researcher reviewed the data for inconsistencies, found none, and entered the data into SPSS for data analysis. The researcher ran the data through SPSS to conduct assumption testing and multiple regression analysis to determine if a relationship exists between the predictor and criterion variables. The regression analysis explored the relationship between teachers' constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning and their scores on the RTOP, the relationship between teachers' traditional conceptions of teacher and learning and their scores on the RTOP, and the combination of constructivist and traditional conceptions on their scores on the RTOP. The researcher will report the findings from the data analysis in the findings and results sections in Chapter 4.

Data Analysis

Multiple linear regression was used to analyze the data. Multiple regression analysis is used when the researcher is examining the predictive ability for two or more predictor variables with one continuous criterion variable. Data for a multiple linear regression is gathered from one homogeneous group (Gall et al., 2007). Each participant provides one data point for each variable in the regression. The multiple regression analysis compares each predictor variable to the criterion variable and the combination of both predictor variables to the criterion variable (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). This analysis provides the magnitude of each of these relationships and the statistical significance (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019; Gall et al., 2007).

Multiple linear regression is appropriate for the research question to investigate the predictive ability of two predictor variables, teachers' conceptions of constructivist learning and traditional learning, and the criterion variable, the score on the extent which teachers use SCL instructional practices. The data collected is from one homogenous group, high school

mathematics teachers. Each teacher represents two data points, one for their conceptions of constructivist learning with their score of the extent they use SCL practices and the other for their traditional learning with their score of the extent they use SCL practices. The criterion variable and both predictor variables for this study are measured on a continuous scale.

Before analysis, the data was carefully screened for missing and inaccurate entries on all variables. No inconsistencies were found. A matrix scatter plot was used to detect potential bivariate outliers between the predictor variables and each predictor variable with the criterion variable (Warner, 2013). The assumptions for multiple linear regression with two variables are that all quantitative scores are approximately normally distributed, all pairs of variables have a linear relationship, and there is an absence of multicollinearity (Warner, 2013). Therefore, each scatter plot was examined to verify each of these assumptions. Linearity is assumed if the shape of the data is best described using a straight line (Warner, 2013). A bivariate normal distribution assumption is met if the data appear as the classic cigar shape (Warner, 2013). A variance inflation factor (VIF) test is used to verify the absences of multicollinearity. A VIF score between one and five is acceptable to meet the assumption of absence of multicollinearity (Warner, 2013).

Descriptive statistics were computed for both predictor variables and the criterion variable. A standard multiple linear regression analysis was calculated using SPSS to test the null hypothesis. If p < .05, the null hypothesis will be rejected, indicating a statistical relationship between the criterion and predictor variables (Warner, 2013). Regression coefficients (beta) were calculated for each variable to determine the criterion's best predictor variable (traditional conceptions score or constructivist conceptions score). Beta values indicate the magnitude of the prediction and strength of the relationship (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). The analysis

produces the multiple correlation coefficient, R, and the coefficient of determination, R^2 (Gall et al., 2007). The value of R is used to determine the effect size and R^2 gives the proportion of the variability of the combined predictor variables, traditional conceptions score and constructivist conceptions score, on the criterion variable, the score of the extent of teachers' use of SCL practices (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Chapter four reports the results of the data analyses.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning measured on a constructivist scale and traditional scale using the Conceptions of Teaching and Learning Questionnaire (TLCQ) and the extent which they implement SCL instructional practices in their classes as measured by the Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol (RTOP). This chapter includes the research question considered in this study, the null hypothesis, descriptive statistics for the two predictor variables and one criterion variable, and the results of the study.

Research Question

RQ: How accurately can the reform-based practices score, which measures the extent of SCL practices, be predicted by the linear combination of teacher conceptions of constructivist and traditional teaching and learning?

Null Hypothesis

 H_0 : There will be no significant predictive relationship between the criterion variable, teachers' use of SCL practices, as measured by the Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol, and the linear combination of predictor variables (teacher conceptions of constructivist teaching and learning methods and teacher conceptions of traditional methods) as measured by the Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire for high school mathematics teachers.

Data Screening

The researcher sorted the data and scanned for inconsistencies on each variable. No data errors or inconsistencies were identified. A matrix scatter plot was used to detect bivariate outliers between each of the predictor variables, other predictor variables, and the criterion variable. No bivariate outliers were identified. See Figure 1 for the matrix scatter plots.

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics were obtained for each variable. The sample consisted of 68 participants, which exceeds the required minimum of 66 participants (Gall et al., 2007). The conceptions of constructivist and traditional conceptions were measured using the TLCQ on a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5. The constructivist score for each high school math teacher was calculated as the average score on the 12 items identified as constructivist (Chan & Elliott, 2004). The traditional score for each participant was calculated as the average score on the 18 items from the TLCQ identified as traditional (Chan & Elliott, 2004). A high score on the constructivist scale indicates the teacher holds strong constructivist teaching and learning beliefs.

Figure 1

Matrix Scatter Plots



Table 2

					Std.
	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Deviation
Constructivist	68	2.33	4.92	4.1985	.48806
Traditional	68	1.39	3.89	2.4475	.50058
RTOP	68	28.00	77.00	53.5147	10.98098
Valid N	68				

Descriptive Statistics

Additionally, a high score on the traditional scale indicates a teacher holds strong traditional conceptions. As shown in Table 2, the high school math teachers in the sample scored high on the constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning (M = 4.20, SD = .49). Although not as high as constructivist, the math teachers also tenedd to hold traditional conceptions (M = 2.45, SD = .50). The score from the RTOP was calculated as a total based on the level of which each item was observed during the lesson. The possible total score on the RTOP variable ranges from 0 to 100 (Sawada et al., 2002). The higher the RTOP score, the more frequently a teacher was observed using student-centered instructional practices. On average, the high school math teachers in the sample studied scored 53.5 on the RTOP scale. Descriptive statistics can be found in Table 2.

Assumption Testing

Prior to conducting the multiple regression for this quantitative, correlational study, three assumptions were tested (Warner, 2013). The assumptions for multiple linear regression with two variables are that all pairs of variables have a linear relationship, all quantitative scores are approximately normally distributed, and there is an absence of multicollinearity (Warner, 2013). A matrix scatter plot was used to test the assumptions of linearity and normality. The assumption of linearity was met. See Figure 1 for the matrix scatter plot. The scatter plots show the classic

cigar shape, and thus the assumption of bivariate normal distribution was met. See Figure 1 for the matrix scatter plot. Figure 2 provides the normal P-P plot, which verifies that the data points closely follow the trend line. The normal P-P plot supports the normality assumption. A Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) test was used to test the absence of multicollinearity. The purpose of this test is to determine if a predictor variable is highly correlated with another predictor variable (Warner, 2013). If so, they essentially provide the same information about the criterion variable. If the VIF is too high (greater than 10), then multicollinearity is present (Warner, 2013). Acceptable values are between 1 and 5. The absence of multicollinearity was met between the variables in this study, with a VIF of 1.169. See Table 3 Collinearity Statistics. **Figure 2**

Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



Table 3

Collinearity Statistics

Coefficients^a

	_	Collinearity Statistics	
Model		Tolerance	VIF
1	Constructivist	.855	1.169
	Traditional	.855	1.169

a. Dependent Variable: RTOP

Results

A multiple regression was conducted to see if there was a predictive relationship between the criterion variable (extent teachers use SCL practices in the math classroom) and the linear combination of predictor variables (constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning and traditional conceptions of teaching and learning) for high school math teachers. The predictor variables were constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning and traditional conceptions of teaching and learning. The criterion variable was the extent teachers use SCL practices in the math classroom as measured by the RTOP score. The researcher rejected the null hypothesis at the 95% confidence level where F(2, 65) = 3.427, p = .038. There was a statistical relationship between the combination of predictor variables, teachers' constructivist conceptions and traditional conceptions, and the criterion variable, teachers' extent of SCL use in the math classroom. See Table 4 for regression model results.

The model's effect size was small, where R = .309. Furthermore, $R^2 = .095$, indicating that approximately 10% of the variance of criterion variable, use of SCL practices, can be explained by the linear combination of predictor variables (constructivist and traditional conceptions of teaching and learning). See Table 5 for Model Summary.
Table 4

Regression Model Results

A	NO	VA	2
---	----	----	---

		Sum of		Mean		
Model		Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	770.671	2	385.336	3.427	.038 ^b
	Residual	7308.314	65	112.436		
	Total	8078.985	67			

a. Dependent Variable: RTOP

b. Predictors: (Constant), Traditional, Constructivist

Table 5

Model Summary

			Adjusted R	Std. Error of
Model	R	R Square	Square	the Estimate
1	.309 ^a	.095	.068	10.60357

a. Predictors: (Constant), Traditional, Constructivist

b. Dependent Variable: RTOP

Since the researcher rejected the null hypothesis, further analysis of the coefficients was required. Of the two predictor variables, it was found that the traditional conceptions of teaching and learning was the best predictor of the extent teachers use SCL practices in their math classes, where p = .055. However, neither of the predictor variables were statistically significant. Constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning did not significantly predict the extent teachers use SCL practices, where p = .388. See Table 6 for Coefficients.

Table 6

Coefficients

		Unstan	dardized	Standardized		
	_	Coeff	ficients	Coefficients		
Mode	el	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	56.427	16.014		3.524	<.001
	Constructivist	2.493	2.870	.111	.869	.388
	Traditional	-5.467	2.798	249	-1.954	.055

a. Dependent Variable: RTOP

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS

Overview

Chapter Five will include a discussion of the findings of this quantitative, correlational study. The research question and the results will be discussed as they relate to the existing literature. The implications of the findings will be examined, the study's limitations explored, and recommendations for future research will follow.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning measured on a constructivist scale and traditional scale using the Conceptions of Teaching and Learning Questionnaire (TLCQ) and the extent which they implement SCL instructional practices in their classes as measured by the Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol (RTOP). High school math teachers were asked to volunteer to complete a questionnaire about their conceptions of teaching and learning and allow the researcher to observe one of their math classes. The findings of this data will be presented as it relates to the current literature and the underlying theories related to the current study, cognitive constructivism, teachers' beliefs, and teacher self-efficacy.

Research Question

RQ: How accurately can the reform-based practices score, which measures the extent of SCL practices, be predicted by the linear combination of teacher conceptions of constructivist and traditional teaching and learning?

Null Hypothesis

H₀: There will be no significant predictive relationship between the criterion variable, teachers' use of SCL practices, as measured by the Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol,

and the linear combination of predictor variables (teacher conceptions of constructivist teaching and learning methods and teacher conceptions of traditional methods) as measured by the Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire for high school mathematics teachers.

The researcher rejected the null hypothesis, indicating there could be a relationship between a math teachers' use of SCL practices as measured by the RTOP and the linear combination of their constructivist and traditional conceptions of teaching and learning (p =.038). However, neither the constructivist conceptions score (p = .388) nor the traditional conceptions score (p = .055) of teaching and learning had a statistically significant ability to predict math teachers' use of SCL practices. Although neither predictor variable had statistical significance, the traditional conceptions were the best predictor of the extent high school math teachers use SCL practices. This study adds to the literature by examining the predictive ability of the combination of math teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and their use of SCL practices.

Previous research has indicated that there may be a relationship between teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning and the instructional approaches utilized in their classes (Davis et al., 2020; Dejene, 2020; Dunbar & Yadav, 2022; Ebert-May et al., 2015; Vesga-Bravo et al., 2022; Wilkie, 2019; Yang et al., 2020). The findings of this study are similar to those of Ebert-May et al.'s (2015) findings that showed college biology teachers typically reported preferring learnercentered strategies, while also scoring an average of 54 on the RTOP. However, the results in that study indicated a positive correlation on the RTOP with a student-focused dimension of teaching beliefs and a negative correlation with the teacher-focused dimension (Ebert-May et al., 2015). In the current study, a significant relationship could not be determined between constructivist conceptions and the RTOP score, nor between traditional conceptions and the RTOP score. In another study, pre-service math teachers reported having constructivist views over traditional and reported utilizing inquiry-oriented teaching approaches, which are a type of SCL (Yang et al., 2020). Traditional beliefs had a weak, negative association with SCL instructional practices, while constructivist beliefs were positively associated with SCL instructional practices. However, neither of these studies analyzed the relationship of the linear combination of constructivist and traditional beliefs with their instructional practices.

The current study contributes to the theories indicating that teachers' actions in the classroom are impacted by their beliefs about teaching and learning, as well as other factors (Pajares, 1992; Schoenfeld, 1998). According to Pajares (1992) and Schoenfeld (1998), a person's beliefs determine their actions. This study shows that high school math teachers' classroom actions can be determined from the combination of their constructivist and traditional conceptions of teaching and learning. Historically, traditional instructional practices have been prevalent in mathematics education, with trends pushing towards reformed instruction that can be considered student-centered. The combination of constructivist and traditional conceptions found in this study may be caused by the impact that exposure to new teaching perspectives has on teachers' previous teaching and learning experiences (Chan & Elliott, 2004).

The current study adds to the previous research that high school math teachers report stronger constructivist beliefs over traditional beliefs, as the average math teacher constructivist score was 4.20 and the average traditional score was 2.45 (see Table 2). The average on the RTOP score was a 53 (see Table 2), indicating that the teachers' lessons typically involve student engagement with minds-on or hands-on activity (Ebert-May et al., 2015). The high school math teachers in the current study mostly held constructivist conceptions but had a "middling" approach to using SCL practices (Davis et al., 2020, p. 422). Middling is a term coined by Davis et al. (2020) to refer to teachers who do not associate as strictly traditionalist or constructivist but are in the middle, with tendencies to reach into one category or the other.

The teachers in the current study reported mostly constructivist teaching and learning beliefs, but the combination of these beliefs with their traditional beliefs can be used to predict their use of SCL in their classes. An essential element of cognitive constructivism sees the teacher as a guide or facilitator to help students construct knowledge (Vygotsky, 1978). The high school math teachers in this study were asked to rate statements such as, "Effective teaching encourages more discussion and hands-on activities for students" and "Learning means students have ample opportunities to explore, discuss and express their ideas" to measure their constructivist conceptions. The statements are consistent with the constructivist belief systems that students learn socially and through exploration (Stapleton & Stefaniak, 2019; Vygotsky, 1978). In contrast, statements such as, "Teaching is simply telling, presenting, or explaining the subject matter" and "Learning occurs primarily from drilling and practice" were used to measure teachers' traditional beliefs. The combination of constructivist and traditional conceptions may be a result of high school math teachers' beliefs that what students learn through discussions and hands-on explorations should be defined by the teacher and mastered through drill and practice.

While the high school math teachers in this study tended to hold more constructivist beliefs than traditional, their use of SCL in the classroom can be classified as middling. These practices were measured using the RTOP, which contained statements such as, "In this lesson, student exploration preceded formal presentation" and "The teacher acted as a resource person, working to support and enhance student investigations." The teachers in this study have participated in PD opportunities that incorporated different types of SCL instructional practices, such as taskbased learning and inquiry-based learning. However, the level of support the teachers received from their schools may vary from school to school. Liu and Phelps (2020) concluded that without some type of ongoing support, math teachers' knowledge regarding PD activities decays on average at a rate of 37 days following PD. In other studies, teachers who had ongoing support following PD reported consistent, continued use of SCL practices (Hayward & Laursen, 2018; Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). The math teachers in the current study fell into the middling category of SCL practices, which indicates they may waver between traditional and studentcentered teaching practices. The level of ongoing support the teachers in the current study received may have impacted their use of SCL in their classrooms.

In contrast to the findings of the current study, Dejene (2020) found that pre-service teachers in a post-graduate teaching program typically held traditional conceptions of teaching and learning and reported preferring traditional teaching approaches. The study resulted in a positive correlation between teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and their teaching approach (Dejene, 2020). That is, traditional beliefs were positively correlated with traditional approaches and constructivist beliefs were positively correlated with constructivist approaches. Similary, pre-service math teachers' constructivist beliefs were positively associated with their reported SCL practices, while traditional beliefs had a negative association (Yang et al., 2020). Although the high school math teachers in the current study tended to hold stronger constructivist beliefs than traditional, their use of SCL in their math classes can only be predicted by a combination of their constructivist and traditional beliefs.

The findings of the current study also support theories of teaching beliefs by Pajares (1992) and Schoenfeld (1998) that theorized teachers' beliefs about students and how they learn and beliefs about how teachers teach impact the practices teachers use in the classroom. Previous research has also shown that math teachers may hold constructivist beliefs about teaching and

learning, understand SCL instructional approaches, and may implement SCL practices in their classes, but not regularly (Corkin et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2020; Yurekli et al., 2020). Corkin et al. (2019) reported that math teachers in their study described constructivist teaching beliefs and willingness to implement, but expressed constraints to utilizing such practices in their classes. Similarly, Yurekli et al. (2020) found middle level math teachers' beliefs about conceptual understanding and connection-making were greater than the frequency which they reported utilizing them. While the above studies also indicate teachers' beliefs lean towards constructivism, the teachers in these studies reported using some instructional practices in line with constructivism, which may be compared to the middling approach as with the teachers in the current study.

Implications

The theories used in this study were cognitive constructivism (Vygotsky, 1978), teachers' beliefs (Pajares, 1992; Schoenfeld, 1998), and teachers' self-efficacy (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998). The participants in this study reported stronger constructivist beliefs than traditional but tended to implement a combination of SCL and traditional instructional practices. The high school math teachers tended to believe that students construct knowledge through social interactions and exploration, while the teacher provides guidance and helps activate prior knowledge (Vygotsky, 1978). Although the teachers participated in SCL-based PD, they did not fully implement SCL practices in their math classrooms. Several of the math teachers observed used variations of some SCL, such as task-based learning and exploration activities. For example, some teachers had students working in small groups to problem-solve a given task, while others gave students time to explore new concepts before formal instruction. However, a few of the math teachers observed used only direct instruction in their classrooms, giving

students information and procedures. These teachers could have provided students with opportunities to explore concepts to build more conceptual understanding instead of procedural.

One implication is that other than teaching and learning beliefs, teachers may have further belief systems regarding students' abilities and their own abilities that may impact their classroom practices (Pajares, 1992; Schoenfeld, 1998; Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998). A high school math teacher may have strong constructivist teaching and learning beliefs; however, one cannot assume the teacher has the confidence or knowledge to implement constructivist-based practices. In the current study, participants may have had other beliefs or constraints, such as lack of confidence, that limited their use of SCL in the math classroom. In addition, Tschannen-Moran et al. (1998) noted that a teacher who is less experienced with a particular instructional approach may have lower efficacy regarding its use. Therefore, the infrequent use of SCL practices by the high school math teachers in this study may have been due to lack of experience implementing SCL. This implication may indicate that high school math teachers may need additional support and PD to help develop their confidence and experience with SCL (Copur-Gencturk & Papakonstantinou, 2016; Dunbar & Yadav, 2022; Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). High school math teachers may need to unlearn old, traditional practices while learning to implement the newer, less familiar SCL (Guskey, 2002; Heyd-Metzuyanim, 2019).

No other study was found that examined the predictive relationship between the linear combination of high school math teachers' constructivist and traditional conceptions of teaching and learning and their observed use of SCL in the math classroom. This study is significant to teacher educators and supporters, such as school administrators and professional development coordinators, in understanding how high school math teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning impact their use of SCL in their classrooms. The findings of this study suggest that high

school math teachers who hold constructivist teaching and learning conceptions may need additional support when implementing SCL practices in their classes (Corkin et al., 2019; Guskey, 2002; Lee & Vongkulluksn, 2023; Prendergast & Treacy, 2018).

When high school math teachers implement SCL approaches, they are typically transitioning from traditional practices. Teachers must unlearn old practices while simultaneously learning to implement new ones. Professional development opportunities should help math teachers understand the principles of SCL and benefits of instructional practices involving SCL (Corkin et al., 2019; Prendergast & Treacy, 2018). Additionally, those individuals who support teachers should allow them opportunities to collaborate and share ideas and resources with other teachers using SCL approaches (Dunbar & Yadav, 2022; Lee & Vongkulluksn, 2023; Shuilleabhain & Seery, 2018). The teacher educators should provide math teachers with opportunities to practice new strategies in low pressure settings and reflect upon how the practices inform their teaching and impact student learning outcomes.

Limitations

The results of this study may have been impacted by the observational procedures. First, the observations were short, lasting no more than 30 minutes of a 90-minute teaching block. The observations took place at the beginning, middle, or end of the class, depending on school schedules and teacher availability. Therefore, the researcher may have missed some critical components of a SCL lesson depending on the time frame of which the observation occurred. Lengthening the observations to a full 90-minute teaching block or observing teachers over multiple lessons may yield different results. Additionally, because of the design of the study, the teachers knew ahead of time when their class would be observed. Causal relationship studies, such as this nonexperimental predictive study, cannot establish cause-and-effect relationships,

and therefore, the relationship between the variables may be affected by other complex behaviors or patterns (Gall et al., 2007). Some teachers in the study may have strategically planned a lesson utilizing SCL practices to ensure a higher score on the observation tool.

Another limitation that affects this study's external validity was the sample. A convenience sample was used from one school district, bound to one geographic region in the Southeast United States. The sample size of 68 only slightly exceeded the minimum requirement for a correlational study, which is N = 66 (Gall et al., 2007). This study used an online survey to measure the predictor variables, which could be the cause of the low response rate (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). The school district where the study took place employs more than 120 high school math teachers, as well as some middle school teachers who teach high school courses (algebra 1 and geometry). A larger sample size incorporating high school math teachers from different regions may impact the results of this study. The results of this study may not be generalized beyond the school district from which the sample was collected.

Another limitation is the lack of other variables that may impact a high school math teachers' use of SCL. This study only examined the relationship between the teachers' constructivist and traditional conceptions of teaching and learning with their observed use of SCL in the math classroom. Teachers' self-efficacy, experience, content knowledge, and pedagogical content knowledge were not considered. These variables may impact high school math teachers' use of SCL practices in their classroom beyond what was examined in this study.

Recommendations for Future Research

The study of teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning and how they impact their instructional practices needs further research to help identify ways to best support the teachers as

they implement student-centered instructional practices. Based on the conclusions and limitations of this study, future research should consider the following:

- a quantitative, correlational study comparing teachers' conceptions to their SCL practices using multiple observations over a longer period to obtain a more accurate representation of how often the teachers utilize SCL practices.
- 2. a qualitative study used to gather data on teachers' conceptions through interviews instead of self-reported data. Additionally, the observations could be conducted utilizing a different instrument that allows the researcher to collect more detailed qualitative data on classroom practices.
- a quantitative study that measures other factors, such as experience, content knowledge, pedagogical content knowledge, and self-efficacy, that could help explain the frequency which teachers utilize SCL practices in their classrooms.
- 4. a quantitative study that uses a larger, more diverse sample than the current study.

References

Akhter, N., Naseer Ud Din, M., & Khan, A. M. (2018). The mathematics elementary school teachers' perceptions of the student-centered approaches and professional learning experiences. *Global Social Sciences Review*, *III*(IV), 87-

101. https://doi.org/10.31703/gssr.2018(III-IV).06

- Ayalon, M., Naftaliev, E., Levenson, E. S., & Levy, S. (2021). Prospective and in-service mathematics teachers' attention to a rich mathematics task while planning its implementation in the classroom. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education.*, 19(8), 1695–1716. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-020-10134-1
- Bandura. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *The Psychological Review.*, 84(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. Annual Review of Psychology, 52(1), 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1
- Berger, J., & Lê Van, K. (2019). Teacher professional identity as multidimensional: Mapping its components and examining their associations with general pedagogical beliefs. *Educational Studies*, 45(2), 163-

181. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2018.1446324

Bishop, T. J., Martirosyan, N., Saxon, D. P., & Lane, F. (2018). Delivery method: Does it matter? A study of the North Carolina developmental mathematics redesign. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 42(10), 712-723.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2017.135528.

Blanchard, M. R., LePrevost, C. E., Tolin, A. D., & Gutierrez, K. S. (2016). Investigating technology-enhanced teacher professional development in rural, high-poverty middle

schools. Educational Researcher, 45(3), 207-220.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X16644602

- Bruner, J. (1966). Toward a theory of instruction. Belknap Press of Harvard University.
- Bruner, J. (1971). The process of education revisited. Phi Delta Kappan, 53(1), 18-21.
- Byrne, C., & Prendergast, M. (2020). Investigating the concerns of secondary school teachers towards curriculum reform. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 52(2), 286-306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1643924</u>
- Chan, K., & Elliott, R. G. (2004). Relational analysis of personal epistemology and conceptions about teaching and learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 20(8), 817-

831. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2004.09.002</u>

- Cheng, H., & Ding, Q. (2021). Examining the behavioral features of Chinese teachers and students in the learner-centered instruction. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 36(1), 169-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-020-00469-2</u>
- Clark-Wilson, A., & Hoyles, C. (2019). A research-informed web-based professional development toolkit to support technology-enhanced mathematics teaching at scale. *Educational Studies in Mathematics.*, 102(3), 343–359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-018-9836-1
- Common Core State Standards Initiative. (2021). *About the standards*. http://www.corestandards.org/about-the-standards/
- Copur-Gencturk, Y., & Papakonstantinou, A. (2016). Sustainable changes in teacher practices: A longitudinal analysis of the classroom practices of high school mathematics teachers. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 19(6), 575-594. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-015-9310-2

- Corkin, D. S., Coleman, S. L., & Ekmekci, A. (2019). Navigating the challenges of studentcentered mathematics teaching in an urban context. *The Urban Review*, 51(3), 370-403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-018-0485-6
- Craig, T. T., & Marshall, J. (2019). Effect of project-based learning on high school students' state-mandated, standardized math and science exam performance. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 56(10), 1461-1488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21582</u>
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C. (2019). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (6th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- Davis, B., Towers, J., Chapman, O., Drefs, M., & Friesen, S. (2020). Exploring the relationship between mathematics teachers' implicit associations and their enacted practices. *Journal* of Mathematics Teacher Education, 23(4), 407-428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-019-09430-7</u>
- Dejene, W. (2020). Conceptions of teaching & learning and teaching approach preference: Their change through preservice teacher education program. *Cogent Education*, 7(1), 1833812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2020.1833812</u>
- Desimone, L. M., Porter, A. C., Garet, M. S., Yoon, K. S., & Birman, B. F. (2002). Effects of professional development on teachers' instruction: Results from a three-year longitudinal study. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 24(2), 81-112. https://doi.org/10.3102/01623737024002081

Dunbar, K., & Yadav, A. (2022). Shifting to student-centered learning: Influences of teaching a summer service learning program. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 110, 103578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103578</u> Ebert-May, D., Derting, T. L., Henkel, T. P., Middlemis Maher, J., Momsen, J. L., Arnold, B., & Passmore, H. A. (2015). Breaking the cycle: Future faculty begin teaching with learnercentered strategies after professional development. *CBE life sciences education*, 14(2), ar22. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.14-12-0222

EdGate. (2022). United States standards. https://correlation.edgate.com/standards/state-map.html

- Emery, N., Maher, J. M., & Ebert-May, D. (2021). Environmental influences and individual characteristics that affect learner-centered teaching practices. *PloS One*, *16*(4), e0250760e0250760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0250760</u>
- Eronen, L., & Kärnä, E. (2018). Students acquiring expertise through student-centered learning in mathematics lessons. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 62(5), 682-700. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2017.1306797</u>
- Francom, G. M. (2017). Principles for task-centered instruction. In Reigeluth, C.M., Beatty, B.
 J., & Myers, R.D. (Eds.), *Instructional-design theories and models: The learner-centered paradigm of education (Vol. IV)*, pp. 65 91). Routledge.
- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). *Educational research: An introduction* (8th ed.).Pearson Education Inc.
- Guskey, T. R. (2002). Professional development and teacher change. *Teachers and Teaching*, 8(3), 381-391. https://DOI:10.1080/135406002100000512
- Hayward, C. N., & Laursen, S. L. (2018). Supporting instructional change in mathematics: Using social network analysis to understand online support processes following professional development workshops. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 5(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-018-0120-9

- Heck, D. J., Plumley, C. L., Stylianou, D. A., Smith, A. A., & Moffett, G. (2019). Scaling up innovative learning in mathematics: Exploring the effect of different professional development approaches on teacher knowledge, beliefs, and instructional practice. *Educational Studies in Mathematics.*, *102*(3), 319–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-019-09895-6
- Heyd-Metzuyanim, E. (2019). Changing teaching practices towards explorative mathematics instruction – the interweaving of teacher identity and pedagogical discourse. *Teaching* and Teacher Education, 86, 102862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.06.016</u>
- Hill, H. C., & Ball, D. L. (2004). Learning mathematics for teaching: Results from California's mathematics professional development institutes. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 35(5), 330-351. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/30034819</u>
- Horn, I., Garner, B., Chen, I., & Frank, K. A. (2020). Seeing colleagues as learning resources:
 The influence of mathematics teacher meetings on advice-seeking social networks. *AERA Open*, 6(2), 233285842091489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858420914898</u>
- Huang, L., Doorman, M., & Lê Van Joolingen, W. (2021). Inquiry-based learning practices in lower-secondary mathematics education reported by students from China and the Netherlands. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 19(7), 1505-1521. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-020-10122-5</u>
- Jamaan, E. Z., Musnir, D. N., & Syahrial, Z. (2020). The effect of problem-based learning model on students' geometry achievement by controlling mathematics initial ability. *Journal of Physics. Conference Series*, 1554(1), 12034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-</u> <u>6596/1554/1/012034</u>

- Keiler, L. S. (2018). Teachers' roles and identities in student-centered classrooms. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 5(1), 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-018-0131-6</u>
- Kennedy, M. M. (2016). How does professional development improve teaching? *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4), 945-980. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626800
- Klein, S., & Leikin, R. (2020). Opening mathematical problems for posing open mathematical tasks: What do teachers do and feel? *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 105(3), 349-365.
- Larsen, J., & Parrish, C. W. (2019). Community building in the MTBoS: Mathematics educators establishing value in resources exchanged in an online practitioner community. *Educational Media International*, 56(4), 313-327.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09523987.2019.1681105

- Lau, W. W. F. (2021). Predicting pre-service mathematics teachers' teaching and learning conceptions: The role of mathematical beliefs, mathematics self-efficacy, and mathematics teaching efficacy. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-021-10204-y</u>
- Leder, G. C. (2019). Mathematics-related beliefs and affect. In M. S. Hannula, G. C. Leder, F. Morselli, M. Vollstedt, & Q. Zhang (Eds.), *Affect and mathematics education: Fresh perspectives on motivation, engagement, and identity*, 15–35. Springer.
- Lee, H., & Blanchard, M. R. (2019). Why teach with PBL? Motivational factors underlying middle and high school teachers' use of problem-based learning. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*, 13(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.7771/1541-5015.1719</u>

- Lee, H., & Vongkulluksn, V. W. (2023). Enhancing mathematics teacher professional learning through a contextualized professional development program. *Teacher Development*, 27(1), 92-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2022.2134195</u>
- Liu, S., & Phelps, G. (2020). Does teacher learning last? Understanding how much teachers retain their knowledge after professional development. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 71(5), 537-550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487119886290</u>
- Matranga, A., & Silverman, J. (2022). An emerging community in online mathematics teacher professional development: An interactional perspective. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education.*, 25(1), 63–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-020-09480-2
- McLeod. (1992). Research on affect in mathematics education: A reconceptualization.In Handbook of Research on Mathematics Learning and Teaching (pp. 575–596).MacMillan.
- McPherson, P. J. (2021). "A metamorphosis of the educator": A hermeneutic phenomenology study of the perceptions and lived experiences of the 6–12 educator in transitioning from teacher-centered to student-centered learning. *The Journal of Competency-Based Education*, 6(2), n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbe2.1230
- Morrison, J., Frost, J., Gotch, C., McDuffie, A. R., Austin, B., & French, B. (2021). Teachers' role in students' learning at a project-based STEM high school: Implications for teacher education. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 19(6), 1103-1123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-020-10108-3</u>
- Moyer, J. C., Robison, V., & Cai, J. (2018). Attitudes of high-school students taught using traditional and reform mathematics curricula in middle school: A retrospective analysis. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 98, 115 - 134.

National Center for Education Statistics. (2020a, May). Mathematics Performance. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cnc

National Center for Education Statistics. (2020b, May). International comparisons: Reading, mathematics, and science literacy of 15-year-old students.

https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cnu?tid=4

- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2014). *Principles to actions: Ensuring mathematical success for all*. National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- Owens, D. C., Sadler, T. D., Murakami, C. D., & Tsai, C. (2018). Teachers' views on and preferences for meeting their professional development needs in STEM. *School Science* and Mathematics, 118(8), 370-384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ssm.12306</u>
- Pajares, M. F. (1992). Teachers' beliefs and educational research: Cleaning up a messy construct. *Review of Educational Research*, 62(3), 307–332. https://doi.org/10.2307/1170741
- Prendergast, M., & Treacy, P. (2018). Curriculum reform in Irish secondary schools a focus on algebra. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *50*(1), 126-143.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2017.1313315

Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol. (2007).

http://physicsed.buffalostate.edu/AZTEC/RTOP/RTOP_full/index.htm

Reigeluth, C. M., Beatty, B. J., & Myers, R. D. (2017). *Instructional-design theories and models: The learner-centered paradigm of education* (Vol. IV). New York, NY: Routledge.

Russell, J. L., Correnti, R., Stein, M. K., Thomas, A., Bill, V., & Speranzo, L. (2020). Mathematics Coaching for Conceptual Understanding: Promising Evidence Regarding the Tennessee Math Coaching Model. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 42(3), 439–466. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373720940699

- Sawada, D., Piburn, M. D., Judson, E., Turley, J., Falconer, K., Benford, R., & Bloom, I. (2002). Measuring reform practices in science and mathematics classrooms: The reformed teaching observation protocol. *School Science and Mathematics*, *102*(6), 245-253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1949-8594.2002.tb17883.x
- Schoenfeld, A. H. (1998). Toward a theory of teaching-in-context. *Issues in Education* (*Greenwich, Conn.*), 4(1), 1-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1080-9724(99)80076-7</u>
- Schoenfeld, A. H. (2004). The math wars. *Educational Policy (Los Altos, Calif.)*, 18(1), 253-286. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904803260042
- Scogin, S. C., Dorantes, M., Couwenhoven, A., Vander Kolk, J., Schuen, A., Grimmer, C., Porchik, M., Veine, C., Plohetski, S., & Bowers, S. (2022). The relationship between preservice teachers' ideologies and learner-centered approaches in STEM classrooms. *Journal of Science Teacher Education, ahead-of-print*(ahead-of-print), 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1046560X.2022.2039344</u>
- Shuilleabhain, A. N., & Seery, A. (2018). Enacting curriculum reform through lesson study: A case study of mathematics teacher learning. *Professional Development in Education*, 44(2), 222-236. <u>https://doi:10.1080/19415257.2017.1280521</u>.
- Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, *15*(2), 4-14. https://doi.org/10.2307/1175860
- Stapleton, L., & Stefaniak, J. (2019). Cognitive constructivism: Revisiting Jerome Bruner's influence on instructional design practices. *Techtrends*, 63(1), 4-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-018-0356-8

Talbert, E., Hofkens, T., & Wang, M. (2019). Does student-centered instruction engage students differently? The moderation effect of student ethnicity. *The Journal of Educational Research (Washington, D.C.), 112*(3), 327-341.
https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2018.1519690

Thurm, D., & Barzel, B. (2020). Effects of a professional development program for teaching mathematics with technology on teachers' beliefs, self-efficacy and practices. *ZDM*, 52(7), 1411-1422. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11858-020-01158-6

Tschannen-Moran, M., Hoy, A. W., & Hoy, W. K. (1998). Teacher Efficacy: Its Meaning and Measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68(2), 202–248.

https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543068002202

- Valoyes-Chávez, L. (2019). On the making of a new mathematics teacher: Professional development, subjectivation, and resistance to change. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 100(2), 177-191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-018-9869-5
- Vesga-Bravo, G., Angel-Cuervo, Z., & Chacón-Guerrero, G. (2022). Beliefs about mathematics, its teaching, and learning: Contrast between pre-service and in-service teachers. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 20(4), 769-791. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-021-10164-3</u>

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society*. Harvard University Press.

- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Wilkie, K. J. (2019). The challenge of changing teaching: Investigating the interplay of external and internal influences during professional learning with secondary mathematics

teachers. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 22(1), 95-124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-017-9376-0

- Xie, S., & Cai, J. (2020). Teachers' beliefs about mathematics, learning, teaching, students, and teachers: Perspectives from Chinese high school in-service mathematics teachers.
 International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education, 19(4), 747-769.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-020-10074-w
- Yalcin İncik, E. (2018). The relationship between teachers' educational beliefs and teachinglearning conceptions: A mixed method study. *Journal of Education and Future*, (14), 149-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.30786/jef.414487</u>
- Yang, X., Kaiser, G., König, J., & Blömeke, S. (2020). Relationship between pre-service mathematics teachers' knowledge, beliefs and instructional practices in China. *ZDM*, 52(2), 281-294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11858-020-01145-x</u>
- Yurekli, B., Stein, M. K., Correnti, R., & Kisa, Z. (2020). Teaching Mathematics for Conceptual Understanding: Teachers' Beliefs and Practices and the Role of Constraints, *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 51(2), 234-247. <u>https://pubs-nctmorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/view/journals/jrme/51/2/article-p234_1.xml</u>
- Zvoch, K., Holveck, S., & Porter, L. (2021). Teaching for Conceptual Change in a Density Unit Provided to Seventh Graders: A Comparison of Teacher- and Student-Centered Approaches. *Research in Science Education.*, 51(5), 1395–1421. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-019-09907-8

APPENDIX A: IRB Approval

LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

September 20, 2022

Melissa Lute Nathan Putney

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY22-23-9 THE IMPACT OF HIGH SCHOOL MATH TEACHERS' CONCEPTIONS OF TEACHING AND LEARNING ON IMPLEMENTATION OF STUDENT-CENTERED INSTRUCTIONAL PRACTICES

Dear Melissa Lute, Nathan Putney,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(iii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met:

The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by §46.111(a)(7).

Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found under the Attachments tab within the Submission Details section of your study on Cayuse IRB. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available without alteration.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at irb@liberty.edu.

Sincerely, G. Michele Baker, MA, CIP Administrative Chair of Institutional Research Research Ethics Office

APPENDIX B: Permission Email for School District Approval

Dear xxxxxx,

As a graduate student at Liberty University in the School of Education, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Ph.D. in Instructional Design and Technology. The title of my research project is The Impact of High School Math Teachers' Conceptions of Teaching and Learning on Implementation of Student-Centered Instructional Practices. The purpose of my research is to explore the relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of constructivist instructional practices and their conceptions of traditional teaching practices with their use of student-centered learning practices in their math classes.

I am writing to request your permission to contact all high school math teachers in xxxxxx Public Schools to invite them to participate in my research study. Participation in my research study requires two parts: 1) Participants will be asked to fill out a survey, and 2) Participants will be observed on the extent which they use student-centered learning practices in their classrooms. I am requesting school district approval to allow me, the researcher, to collect the data for the observations. Participants will be presented with informed consent information prior to participating. Taking part in this study is completely voluntary, and participants are welcome to discontinue participation at any time.

Thank you for considering my request. If you choose to grant permission, please provide a signed statement on approved letterhead indicating your approval and email to: Melissa Lute

at

. Please find my written proposal attached on the following pages.

Sincerely, Melissa Lute Liberty University Doctoral Candidate

APPENDIX C: Permission Letter from School District

October 10, 2022

Dear Ms. Lute,

Your request to conduct research title *The Impact of High School Math Teachers' Conception of Teaching and Learning on Implementation of Student-Centered Instructional Practices* is approved subject to the following conditions:

- You must comply with the conditions set forth in the District policy, "Research Involving Students," and § 1232h, "Protection of pupil rights," of the U.S. Code;
- 2. You are not to release, present, or publish any personally identifiable information concerning students, their parents, or District staff members;
- 3. You are not to identify **and the second second second** or any school in our District in any publication, presentation, or release of information associated with your research without my written permission;
- 4. You are not to use resources to complete this research;
- The records and raw data associated with your study are to be destroyed when they are no longer needed for the purposes set forth in your request; and
- 6. You are to provide a copy of your completed research report to me at the District Office.

I hope your research goes well. If you have any questions or are in need of further assistance, please contact me at

Sincerely,



APPENDIX D: Invitation Email to Participate in Study

Dear Math Teacher,

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The purpose of my research is to investigate the relationship between high school math teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning with their use of student-centered learning (SCL) practices in their math classes, and I am writing to invite eligible participants to join my study.

Participants must be a high school math teacher in County Schools during the 2022-2023 school year, teaching any high school math course. Participants, if willing, will be asked to complete a survey (15 minutes) on your conceptions of teaching and learning and have a math class you teach observed (15 to 30 minutes). Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential.

To participate, please click here.

A consent document is provided as the first page of the survey. The consent document contains additional information about my research. After you have read the consent form, please click the button to proceed to the survey. Doing so will indicate that you have read the consent information and would like to take part in the survey.

Sincerely,

Melissa Lute Doctoral Candidate, LU

Teaching and Learning	Concep	tions Qu	estionn	aire		
School *						
Your answer						
The ideas of students a	are impo	ortant an	d should	l be care	efully cor	nsidered.
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	Strongly Agree
The major role of a tea Strongly Disagree	cher is t 1	o transm 2	nit know 3	ledge to 4	students	S. Strongly Agree
Learning occurs prima	rily from	drilling	and prac	tice.		
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
During the lesson, it is the desks.	importa	nt to kee	p studer	nts confi	ined to th	ne textbooks and
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	Strongly Agree

APPENDIX E: Teaching and Learning Conception Questionnaire

Teachers should have control over what students do all the time.								
	1	2	3	4	5			
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree		
Effective teaching enc students.	Effective teaching encourages more discussion and hands on activities for students.							
	1	2	3	4	5			
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree		
Teaching is simply tell	ing, pres	enting, o	or explair	ning the	subject r	natter.		
	1	2	3	4	5			
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree		
I have really learned so	omething) when I	can rem	ember it	later.			
	1	2	3	4	5			
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree		
Good teaching occurs	when th	ere is mo	ostly tea	cher talk	c in the c	lassroom.		
	1	2	3	4	5			
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree		

Students have to be called on all the time to keep them under control.							
	1	2	3	4	5		
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree	
Students should be given many opportunities to express their ideas.							
	1	2	3	4	5		
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree	
Learning means remer	nbering	what the	e teachei	⁻ has tau	ight.		
	1	2	3	4	5		
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree	
A teacher's major task and practice, and test t	is to giv their reca	e studer all.	its know	ledge/in	formatio	on, assign them drill	
	1	2	3	4	5		
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree	
Learning mainly involve	es absor	bing as	much in	formatio	on as pos	sible.	
	1	2	3	4	5		
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree	

1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 0 0 0 Strongly Agree 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 0 0 0 Strongly Agree 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 0 0 0 Strongly Agree 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 1 2 3 4 5 </th <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>acher 5</th> <th></th> <th>on in olu</th> <th>SS.</th>				acher 5		on in olu	SS.
Strongly DisagreeOOOStrongly Agree12345Strongly DisagreeOOOStrongly Agree0OOOOStrongly Agree		1	2	3	4	5	
In good classrooms, there is a democratic and free atmosphere which stimulates students to think and interact. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 0 0 0 0 Strongly Agree The traditional/lecture method for teaching is best because it covers more information/knowledge. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 0 0 0 Strongly Agree Every child is unique or special and deserves an education tailored to his or her particular needs. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 0 0 0 Strongly Agree Good teachers always ecourse students to think for themselves. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 0 0 0 Strongly Agree	Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
12345Strongly Disagree000Strongly Agree12345Strongly Disagree000Strongly Agree12345Strongly Disagree000Strongly Agree12345Strongly Disagree000Strongly Agree12345Strongly Disagree000Strongly Agree02345Strongly Disagree000Strongly Agree12345Strongly Disagree000Strongly Agree	In good classrooms, th students to think and i	ere is a nteract.	democra	atic and	free atm	osphere	which stimulates
Strongly Disagree O O O Strongly Agree The traditional/lecture method for teaching is best because it covers more information/knowledge. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree O O O Strongly Agree Every child is unique or special and deservers an education tailored to his or her particular needs. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree O O O Strongly Agree Good teachers always encourage students to this for themselves. 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree O O O Strongly Agree		1	2	3	4	5	
Intertaditional/lecture method for teaching is best because it covers more information/knowledge. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree I I I I Every child is unique or special and deserves an education tailored to his or her particular needs. 1 I I I 1 I	Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
12345Strongly DisagreeIIIIIIEvery child is unique or special and deserves an education tailored to his or her particular needs.1234512345Image: Strongly DisagreeImage: Strongly Disagree	The traditional/lecture information/knowledg	method e.	for teac	hing is b	est beca	ause it co	overs more
Strongly Disagree O O O Strongly Agree Every child is unique or special and deserves an education tailored to his or her particular needs. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree O O O Strongly Agree Good teachers always encourage students to this or her selves. 1 2 3 4 5 Co O O O Strongly Agree		1	2	3	4	5	
Every child is unique or special and deserves an education tailored to his or her particular needs. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 0 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree 1 2 3 4 5 5 1 2 3 4 5 5 1 2 3 4 5 5 5 1 2 3 4 5	Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
12345Strongly DisagreeIIIIIGood teachers always encourage students to think for themselves.12345Strongly DisagreeIIIII0IIIII0IIIII0II <td>Every child is unique o</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Every child is unique o						
Strongly Disagree O O O Strongly Agree Good teachers always encourage students to think for themselves. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree O O O Strongly Agree	particular needs.	r special	and des	erves ar	n educat	ion tailor	red to his or her
Good teachers always encourage students to think for themselves. 1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree O O O O Strongly Agree	particular needs.	r speciai 1	and des	erves ar 3	n educat 4	ion tailor 5	red to his or her
1 2 3 4 5 Strongly Disagree O O O O Strongly Agree	particular needs. Strongly Disagree	1	2	arves ar	4	ion tailor 5 ()	red to his or her Strongly Agree
Strongly Disagree	particular needs. Strongly Disagree Good teachers always	1 O encoura	and des 2 O ge stude	erves ar 3 O	4 O nink for t	ion tailor 5 () :hemselv	red to his or her Strongly Agree
	particular needs. Strongly Disagree Good teachers always	1 O encoura	and des 2 O ge stude 2	erves ar 3 O ents to th 3	n educat	ion tailor 5 () :hemselv 5	red to his or her Strongly Agree

experience instead of	knowled	ge comr	numeau	011.		
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
It is best if teachers ex	ercise a	s much a	authority	as poss	sible in th	ne classroom.
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Strongly Agree
Different objectives an students.	id expect	tations ii	n learnin	g should	l be appl	ied to different
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	Strongly Agree
Strongly Disagree Teaching is to provide encourage them to dis	1 O students cover it.	2 O s with ac	3 O	4	5 O	Strongly Agree
Strongly Disagree Teaching is to provide encourage them to dis	1 Students cover it.	2 O s with ac 2	3 O curate a 3	4 ond comp 4	5 O plete kno 5	Strongly Agree
Strongly Disagree Teaching is to provide encourage them to dis Strongly Disagree	1 students cover it. 1	2 S with ac 2 O	3 Curate a 3	4 ond com 4	5 plete kno 5	Strongly Agree
Strongly Disagree Teaching is to provide encourage them to dis Strongly Disagree A teacher's task is to c instead of verify them	1 students cover it. 1 correct le for them	2 s with ac 2 arning n selves.	3 Curate a 3 O	4 o and comp 4 o eptions o	5 oplete know 5 of studen	Strongly Agree
Strongly Disagree Teaching is to provide encourage them to dis Strongly Disagree A teacher's task is to c instead of verify them	1 students cover it. 1 O correct le for them 1	2 S with ac 2 C arning n selves. 2	3 Curate a 3 O nisconce 3	4 o and comp 4 o eptions o 4	5 oplete know 5 of studen 5	Strongly Agree owledge rather than Strongly Agree

105

Learning to teach simple questioning them.	ply mean	s practio	cing the	ideas fro	om lectur	ers without
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Strongly Agree
No learning can take p	blace unle	ess stud	ents are	controll	ed.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
Good teachers always	make th	eir stude	ents feel	importa	ant.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Strongly Agree
Instruction should be a among students.	flexible e	nough to	o accom	modate	individua	al differences
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Strongly Agree
It is important that a to	eacher u	nderstar	nds the f	eelings o	of the stu	idents.
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	Strongly Agree
Learning means stude express their ideas.	ents have	ample o	opportur	nities to o	explore, o	discuss and
	1	2	3	4	5	
Strongly Disagree	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Stronaly Aaree

APPENDIX F: Permission to Use TLCQ



I have no problem in your using the instrument but no longer have a copy. You could contact Dr Chan or maybe locate the thesis in the QUT library by contacting them

Bob

Bob Elliott Professor Emeritus Faculty of Education, QUT

TEL:

Dr. Chan and Dr. Elliott,

Hello, my name is Melissa Lute. I am a candidate for the Ph.D. program in the School of Education at Liberty University. I am writing to find if you know how I can obtain access to the Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire (TLCQ). With permission, I would like to use the TLCQ for my dissertation, which I am preparing to propose.

I found your validation article online and your relational analysis study, but could not find access to obtaining permission for use. If you have a moment, I would greatly appreciate any assistance you could provide in this area.

Thank you very much,

Melissa Lute

Melissa M. Lute Ph.D. Candidate Liberty University

APPENDIX G: Reformed Teaching Observation Protocol

II. CONTEXTUAL BACKGROUND AND ACTIVITIES

In the space provided below please give a brief description of the lesson observed, the classroom setting in which the lesson took place (space, seating arrangements, etc.), and any relevant details about the students (number, gender, ethnicity) and teacher that you think are important. Use diagrams if they seem appropriate.

Record here events which may help in documenting the ratings.

Time	Description of Events

III. LESSON DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION

	Nev Occ				Very Descriptive			
1)	The instructional strategies and activities respected students' p knowledge and the preconceptions inherent therein.	r O	1	2	3	4		
2)	The lesson was designed to engage students as members of a learning community.	0	1	2	3	4		
3)	In this lesson, student exploration preceded formal presentation.	0	1	2	3	4		
4)	This lesson encouraged students to seek and value alternative mo of investigation or of problem solving.	des 0	1	2	3	4		
5)	The focus and direction of the lesson was often determined by ide originating with students.	as 0	1	2	3	4		

IV. CONTENT

Propositional knowledge

6)	The lesson involved fundamental concepts of the subject.		0	1	2	3	4
7)	The lesson promoted strongly coherent conceptual understanding.		0	1	2	3	4
8)	The teacher had a solid grasp of the subject matter content inherent in the lesson.		0	1	2	3	4
9)	Elements of abstraction (i.e., symbolic representations, theory building) were encouraged when it was important to do so.		0	1	2	3	4
10)	Connections with other content disciplines and/or real world phenomena were explored and valued.		0	1	2	3	4
	Procedural Knowledge						
11)	Students used a variety of means (models, drawings, graphs, concrete materials, manipulatives, etc.) to represent phenomena.	0	1	2	3	4	
12)	Students made predictions, estimations and/or hypotheses and devised means for testing them.	0	1	2	3	4	
13)	Students were actively engaged in thought-provoking activity that often involved the critical assessment of procedures.	0	1	2	3	4	
14)	Students were reflective about their learning.	0	1	2	3	4	
15)	Intellectual rigor, constructive criticism, and the challenging of ideas were valued.	0	1	2	3	4	
V. CLASSROOM CULTURE

	Communicative Interactions	Never Occurred	l		D	Very escriptive
16)	Students were involved in the communication of their ideas to others using a variety of means and media.	0	1	2	3	4
17)	The teacher's questions triggered divergent modes of thinking.	0	1	2	3	4
18)	There was a high proportion of student talk and a significant an of it occurred between and among students.	mount 0	1	2	3	4
19)	Student questions and comments often determined the focus and direction of classroom discourse.	1 0	1	2	3	4
20)	There was a climate of respect for what others had to say.	0	1	2	3	4
	Student/Teacher Relationships					
21)	Active participation of students was encouraged and valued.	0	1	2	3	4
22)	Students were encouraged to generate conjectures, alternative solution strategies, and ways of interpreting evidence.	0	1	2	3	4
23)	In general the teacher was patient with students.	0	1	2	3	4
24)	The teacher acted as a resource person, working to support and enhance student investigations.	0	1	2	3	4
25)	The metaphor "teacher as listener" was very characteristic of th classroom.	is 0	1	2	3	4

Additional comments you may wish to make about this lesson.

APPENDIX H: Permission to Use RTOP



Daniel MacIsaac < To Lute, Melissa Marie Cc Kathleen Falconer; PhysPort Editor; Sam McKagan; Dan L. MACISAAC

(i) You replied to this message on 5/19/2022 6:27 AM.

Five of those training videos are accessible from my YouTube channel: <https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLk0pzGIjYOF3mxdcZ-9t1ogT8cKWMlxlZ>

There are many relevant publications as several others have used RTOP in their research. Do some groundwork, and then KF and I could be available at our mutual convenience to take your well-informed questions via Zoom.

Best wishes for your success, Dan M

Dan MacIsaac, AAPT Fellow & Professor of Physics, SUNY-Buffalo State College

Editor: The Science Teachers Bulletin (STANYS)

Hello,

My name is Melissa Lute and I am a Ph.D. candidate at Liberty University. I was hoping to use the RTOP as a part of my dissertation, for which I am currently preparing a proposal. I found all of the information, including the RTOP Developer's Website, on <u>Physport.org</u>. The sample videos in the training modules download as a .rm file, which I can open, but has no sound. I was wondering if you have any other useful information for training observers?

Thank you,

Melissa Lute Liberty University, School of Education